

Benefitting from linguistic diversity for promoting sustainable development in language education

-A study of bilingual learning for newly arrived minority language pupils in Norway

Mallika Manral

VID Specialized University

Stavanger

Master's Thesis

Master in Community Development and Social Innovation

Word count: [24252]

[Date 30.05.2022]

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am highly indebted to my supervisor Professor Frédérique Brossard Børhaug for generous sharing of knowledge, insightful comments, along with her active engagement through every step of the master thesis process. I highly appreciate your guidance and encouragement throughout the study period.

My sincere thanks to Assoc. Professor Gerd Marie Ådna, Professor Frieder Ludwig and Mrs. E. Phuti for their suggestions and support whenever it was needed during the course of the study.

I am forever grateful to my informants- the teachers who willingly participated in this study and spent their valuable time sharing their thoughts and experiences. The study would not have been possible without you!

I am thankful to the administration of the language school who allowed me to carry out the study in their school.

My heartfelt thanks to all my classmates for the lovely time that we spent together at VID.

I am profoundly grateful for my family for always being there for me.

Mallika Manral 30.05.2022 "We don't inherit the earth from our ancestors, we borrow it from our children."

-Lester Brown

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	ii
List of Tables	vi
Abbreviations	vii
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the study	1
1.2 Personal interest	1
1.3 Research questions	2
1.4 Key theoretical perspectives	3
1.5 Structure of the thesis	4
2 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	5
2.1 Defining sustainable development in school discourse	5
2.1.1 A wider focus on sustainable development	5
2.1.2 Highlighting education for sustainable development	
2.1.3 Sustainable development in Norwegian curriculum discourse	7
2.2 Languages, cultures, and bio-organisms: A necessary combined focus	8
2.2.1 A combined loss of languages and biodiversity	8
2.2.2 Linguistic diversity in world and its development and/or decline	9
2.2.3 The significance of mother tongue teaching in minority pupils education	11
2.2.4 Linguistic diversity in Norway and the Norwegian teaching policies	12
2.2.5 Cultural diversity	15
2.3 Finding solutions to environmental threats by promoting linguistic diversity	.16
2.3.1 Climate change	16
2.3.2 Sustaining biodiversity through strong cultural and linguistic diversity	17
2.3.3 Connecting languages, cultures, and bio-organisms	17
2.3.4 Looking at <i>biocultural</i> diversity	18
2.3.5 Biocultural diversity projects and language teaching	20
3 METHODOLOGICAL ISSUES AND CHOICES	23
3.1 Data collection	23
3.1.1 Access and informant recruitment	23
3.1.2 Sampling	23
3.1.3 Challenges with recruitment	24
3.1.4 Sample size	24
3.2 Methodological choices	25
3.2.1 Focus group discussion	25
3.2.2 Rapport building	27
3.2.3 Group dynamics	28
3.2.4 The researcher's role	29
3.3 Data analysis	29
3.3.1 The transcription process	29
3.3.2 Coding	29
3.4 Ethical Considerations	30
3.4.1 Human dignity	31
3.4.2 Privacy	31
3.4.3 Informed consent	31

3.4.5 Storage of personal data	3.4.4 Confidentiality	32
3.4.7 Respect for third parties 33 3.5 Reliability and validity in the research project. 33 3.5.1 Reliability. 33 3.5.2 Validity. 34 3.6 Limitations of the study. 34 3.7 Benefits of the study. 34 3.7 Benefits of the study. 35 4 RESEARCH FINDINGS FROM FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION. 37 4.1 Sustainable development. 37 4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development teducation 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue	3.4.5 Storage of personal data	32
3.5 Reliability and validity in the research project.	3.4.6 Responsibility of avoiding harm	33
3.5.1 Reliability	3.4.7 Respect for third parties	33
3.5.2 Validity		
3.6 Limitations of the study. 34 3.7 Benefits of the study. 35 4 RESEARCH FINDINGS FROM FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION. 37 4.1 Sustainable development. 37 4.1.1 Significance of sustainable development. 37 4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development - A crucial focus in all curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development. 54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education. 57 5.3.3 Biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversi	3.5.1 Reliability	33
3.7 Benefits of the study.	3.5.2 Validity	34
4 RESEARCH FINDINGS FROM FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION. 37 4.1 Sustainable development. 37 4.1 Significance of sustainable development. 37 4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development - A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.3 Significance of sustainable development education. 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development. 54 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education. 55 5.2.2 Mother tongue a limited learning place in the school system. 57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon. 59 5.3.4 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils. 61	3.6 Limitations of the study	34
4.1 Sustainable development. 37 4.1.1 Significance of sustainable development. 37 4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development - A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development. 54 5.2.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue. 55 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon. 59 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective. 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diver	3.7 Benefits of the study	35
4.1 Sustainable development. 37 4.1.1 Significance of sustainable development. 37 4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development - A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development. 54 5.2.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue. 55 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon. 59 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective. 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diver	4 RESEARCH FINDINGS FROM FOCUS GROUP DISCUSSION	37
4.1.1 Significance of sustainable development 37 4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 52 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2.2 Mother tongue a limited learning place in the school system. 57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon. 59 5.3.4 Biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity an emergent and crucial perspective 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning.		
4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 38 4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue 43 4.4 The topic of climate change 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 52 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education 55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system 57 5.3.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon 59 5.3.4 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils 61 6.5 CONCLUSION 65 8.6 APPENDICES<		
4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching. 41 4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education. 55 5.2.2 Mother tongue - a limited learning place in the school system 57 5.3.3 Recause climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon 59 5.3.4 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils. 61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through		
4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development. 42 4.3 Significance of mother tongue. 43 4.4 The topic of climate change. 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures. 46 4.6 Connection with nature. 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity. 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. 51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education. 57 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system. 57 5.3.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning63 6 6 6 CONCLUSION.		
4.3 Significance of mother tongue 43 4.4 The topic of climate change 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures 46 4.6 Connection with nature 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY 51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education 55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system 57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon 59 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils 61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning 63 6 CONCLUSION 65 REFERENCES 68 APPENDICES 81		
4.4 The topic of climate change 45 4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures 46 4.6 Connection with nature 47 4.7 Biocultural diversity 48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY 51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils 51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education 51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum 52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development 54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education 55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system 57 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils 61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning 63 6 CONCLUSION 65 REFERENCES 68 APPENDICES 81 Appendix 1 Letter of informed consent 81 Appendix 2 Interview guide used in focus group discussion 84 <		
4.5 Diversity, languages and cultures	5	
4.6 Connection with nature		
4.7 Biocultural diversity. .48 5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. .51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. .51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. .51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. .52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development .54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue .55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education. .55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system. .57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon. .59 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 .61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective .62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning. .63 6 CONCLUSION. .65 REFERENCES. .68 APPENDICES. .81 Appendix 1 Letter of informed consent. .81 Appendix 2 Interview guide used in focus group discussion. .84		
5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY. .51 5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils. .51 5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education. .51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum. .52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development .54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue .55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education. .55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system. .57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon. .59 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 .61 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning63 .62 6 CONCLUSION. .65 REFERENCES. .68 APPENDICES. .81 Appendix 1 Letter of informed consent. .81 Appendix 2 Interview guide used in focus group discussion. .84		
5.1 Sustainable development- A crucial focus in <i>all</i> curricula for minority pupils		
5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education .51 5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum .52 5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development .54 5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue .55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education .55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system .57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon .59 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils .61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective .62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning .63 6 CONCLUSION .65 REFERENCES .68 APPENDICES .81 Appendix 1 Letter of informed consent .81 Appendix 2 Interview guide used in focus group discussion .84	5 DISCUSSION - BENEFITTING FROM LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY	51
5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum		
5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development		
5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue 55 5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education 55 5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system 57 5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon 59 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils 61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective 62 5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning 63 6 CONCLUSION 65 REFERENCES 68 APPENDICES 81 Appendix 1 Letter of informed consent 81 Appendix 2 Interview guide used in focus group discussion 84	5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum	52
5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education	5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development	54
5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system	5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue	55
5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon	5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education	55
 5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils61 5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective	5.2.2 Mother tongue- a limited learning place in the school system	57
5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective		
5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning63 6 CONCLUSION	5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils	61
6 CONCLUSION		
REFERENCES	5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating through bilingual learning	63
APPENDICES81Appendix 1Letter of informed consent.Appendix 2Interview guide used in focus group discussion84	6 CONCLUSION	65
APPENDICES81Appendix 1Letter of informed consent.Appendix 2Interview guide used in focus group discussion81	REFERENCES	68
Appendix 1Letter of informed consent81Appendix 2Interview guide used in focus group discussion		
Appendix 2 Interview guide used in focus group discussion		
ADDENDIX 3 ADDIOVALITOM NOLWEBIAN CENTRE TO RESEATCH DATA	Appendix 3 Approval from Norwegian Centre for Research Data	

List of Tables

Table 1: Informant's Profile

Abbreviations

BCD	Biocultural Diversity					
вт	Bilingual Teachers (here mother tongue teachers)					
FG	Focus Group					
FGD	Focus Group Discussion					
MT	Mother Tongue					
SD	Sustainable Development					
NO-T	Teachers teaching basic Norwegian					
NSD	Norwegian Centre for Research Data (Norsk Senter for Forskningsdata)					
UDIR	Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training (Utdanningsdirektoratet)					

1 Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Living on earth is a wonderful opportunity bestowed upon us. However, in the pursuit of making our lives more comfortable we have been adversely affecting nature and its resources through our unsustainable ways of living. This has led to various anthropogenic changes such as climate change and loss in biodiversity which if remain unchecked could affect our future generations in a myriad of devasting ways (Sæverot & Torgersen, 2022, p.3). The concept of sustainable development (SD) helps develop knowledge for preserving earth's resources. It is the need of the hour to disseminate knowledge of SD through education, and curricula form fundamental means of assembling knowledge and disseminating it in different ways (pp. 1-2). Principally, the success of academic education depends on pupil's understanding of the concepts which can be greatly facilitated by providing education in their mother tongue (MT) or adequate support for MT.

The study presents the need to include the theme of sustainable development in the MT curriculum for the newly arrived minority language pupils in Norway with the purpose of fostering *biocultural diversity* (BCD) and fighting climate change. It is important in the Norwegian context as immigrants and Norwegian-born to immigrant parents constitute 18.5% of the population (SSB, 2021a) which implies a high linguistic and cultural diversity in society and the society could benefit from this diversity. In Norway, newly arrived minority language pupils¹ (*nyankomne minoritetsspråklige elever*) refer to the pupils who join a Norwegian school soon after they arrive in the country or who have lived in Norway for quite some time before attaining the compulsory school age. The education system should thus ensure that each child gains knowledge about SD considering its role in preserving the environment and this would enable them to shoulder the responsibility for environment as future citizens of Norway.

1.2 Personal interest

Anyone who has had to study in a language other than their mother tongue can understand the difficulties one has to face when studying in a language that was not their mother

¹ <u>hvem er nyankomne minoritetsspråklige elever (udir.no)</u> also called immigrant pupils

tongue. Many of us have experienced the feeling of the lack of opportunity to express ourselves in our mother tongue during our schooling.

As I was searching literature to select a topic that would be socially innovative in community development for my master's thesis research, I was fascinated by how languages could contribute when educating young citizens about sustainable development, with skills and knowledge to fight climate change as a spin-off. Especially interesting was the emergent notion of biocultural diversity (Maffi, 2018). This inspired me to take it up as the topic of my master's thesis. Myself as an immigrant to Norway, I wanted to understand the provisions in education system for the newly arrived minority language pupils. Further, while looking at the new Knowledge Promotion curriculum (Kunnskapsløftet, 2020), I observed the difference between the basic Norwegian curriculum² and the MT curriculum³ with respect to SD. As I pondered on my research topic, I constantly reflected on how can language teaching contribute to biocultural diversity? To elaborate, how can mother tongue teachers support the pupils in grasping the concept of SD? Why did SD become a part of Knowledge Promotion 2020? Why was the theme of SD made pluridisciplinary? I planned my research to explore in detail the potential role of languages particularly the mother tongue, in SD education and identifying ways in which it can help combat climate change and foster biocultural diversity.

1.3 Research Questions

In order to achieve the objectives of the research and bridge the literature gap, it is essential for this research to be guided with set of questions on which knowledge can be gathered. The research questions are outlined as follows:

The main research question is

How do teachers incorporate the concept of sustainable development when teaching basic Norwegian and mother tongue/bilingual to newly arrived minority pupils?

and the sub questions include,

- a. What is sustainable development and how it is defined in the Knowledge Promotion curriculum of 2020?
- b. How to define the concept of biocultural diversity?

² Norwegian Curriculum: Læreplan i grunnleggende norsk for språklige minoriteter (udir.no)

³ MT curriculum: Læreplan i morsmål for språklige minoriteter (udir.no)

By providing robust data about why SD has become pertinent in the Norwegian curriculum and why MT curriculum in Norway should include SD as a theme; this thesis brings to light how mother tongue helps keep connections with nature, fight climate change and foster biocultural diversity.

1.4 Key theoretical perspectives

As mentioned, the immigrant population of Norway forms a sizeable chunk (18.5%) of its population (SSB, 2021a). While this adds to the cultural diversity in Norway, it also implies an increased number of immigrant pupils in classrooms. Norway has put in a lot of resources and efforts for smooth transition of these pupils into their new school system and the new language of instruction. In Norway, the Education Act⁴ (1998, section 2-8) makes a provision to provide adapted instruction in Norwegian to children who have MT other than Norwegian or Sami and they could get mother tongue instruction or/and bilingual subject teaching, if considered necessary. It is important to identify how the benefits from the provisions in the education system can be maximized both for the newly arrived immigrant pupils and for the Norwegian society.

The aim of this study is to gain knowledge about different perspectives on the theme of SD in curriculum and the role of languages particularly the mother tongue in SD education for strengthening the implementation of SD to fight anthropogenic changes like climate change and loss in biodiversity.

The study was conducted in a language school on the west coast of Norway and five teachers comprising of three bilingual teachers (BT) and two basic Norwegian teachers (NO-T) working at the language school were the informants of this study. Based on perspectives from the literature, the research posits that if the theme of sustainable development is included in the mother tongue curriculum for the newly arrived minority language pupils, it could help combat anthropogenic changes of climate change and loss in biodiversity and at the same time promote *biocultural* diversity. Thus, this study is a contribution to the sustainable ways of promoting biocultural diversity (BCD). It specifically looks at perspectives of NO-T and BT regarding their experience in teaching SD to newly arrived minority language pupils. Focus is also placed on how the

⁴ the Education Act (lovdata.no)

pluridisciplinary feature of SD supports BCD and how the teachers incorporate the concept of SD in their teaching.

The research focused on mother tongue as it's a potential promoter of BCD that can effectively equip the students with the knowledge of SD which is important for them as future citizens of Norway.

A limitation of the study is my lack of proficiency in Norwegian thereby only accessing the literature in English and I could recruit only English-speaking informants in the study.

1.5 Structure of the thesis

The thesis is organized into seven chapters. Following the introduction, chapter two presents the theoretical framework comprising review of literature and the theoretical concepts for understanding and analyzing the thesis. These include the key theoretical concepts such as sustainable development, importance of languages particularly mother tongue, climate change and BCD. Chapter 3 describes the methodological issues considered and choices made while conducting this study. Chapter 4 illustrates the findings of this research where the results of focus group discussion (FGD) are collated and categorized under different themes so that the reader can relate them to the research questions. This is followed by chapter 5 on discussion where the findings of the study are discussed against the theoretical framework. The final chapter is on conclusion where inferences from the study are presented along with future research perspectives.

2 Theoretical Framework

This chapter provides a contextual overview of sustainable development, climate change, mother tongue and biocultural diversity. Further, the key explorations in understanding connections between sustainable development, mother tongue, biocultural diversity in general and Norway in particular are presented here while answering the following research sub questions of the study

- a. What is sustainable development and how it is defined in the Knowledge Promotion Curriculum of 2020?
- b. How to define the concept of biocultural diversity?

2.1 Defining sustainable development in school discourse

Sustainable development is a complex and multidimensional concept. Since the study addresses the Norwegian school education system, it's important to understand how it is defined in the school discourse.

2.1.1 A wider focus on sustainable development

Sustainable development entails the sustenance of our natural resources while generating wealth and fostering wellbeing for an ever-increasing population (Pauw et al., 2015). The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UNSDGs) advocate for all learners to have knowledge and skills required to promote sustainable development. Following this, SD was included in the Norwegian core curriculum with the objective to enhance knowledge of pupils so that they can make ethical choices with environmental awareness, and the theme of SD includes issues such as environment and climate, poverty and allocation of resources, conflicts, well-being, fairness, demography and education (UDIR, 2017). Increasing the production of manufactured goods with non-renewable resources boosts economic growth but it comes at the cost of global challenges like climate change and biodiversity loss (Maes & Jacobs, 2015). The world is faced with the challenge of continuous loss in biodiversity associated with rapidly growing human population and unsustainable use of natural resources (Rockström et al., 2009). Therefore, in the present time it's important to educate young citizens about sustainable development so that the environmental threats of climate change and decline in biodiversity are checked and the planet remains habitable for future generations.

2.1.2 Highlighting education for sustainable development

As the planet is going through drastic environmental changes mainly due to human activities affecting the environment –the Anthropocene era, education plays a significant role in the formation of pupil's positive attitude towards environment (Spiropoulou et al., 2007).

We must educate everybody about the effect of our choices on environment so that we can bring about changes in political and economic system to fight the environmental crisis we are facing today as education about environment can help disseminate knowledge and generate the experience to change beliefs, and behavior (Frantz & Mayer, 2014). Education for SD should foster the development of individual and community awareness to support biological, linguistic, cultural diversity considering the existing connection between them, their importance in resilience of ecosystems (Batista & Andrade, 2021), and should highlight connections with nature (Frantz & Mayer, 2014).

Literacy and language choice are key elements of education for SD (Toppo & Rahman, 2020). The pupils should have the opportunity for maximum comprehension as it develops critical thinking, and suitable choice for language instruction is crucial for this (Chomsky, 2007 in Toppo & Rehman, 2020, p. 91). "The words people use, and the patterns formed when people talk and write about topics, contribute to building shared ways by which people understand themselves and the place where they live" (Bromhead, 2021, p. 11). On a global basis, the UNSDG 2030 agenda was adopted by all 193 member states with the aim for all the member states to engage with sustainable development in order to achieve SDGs and the agenda explicitly states the need for SD to be implemented at national, sector specific and individual levels in order to engage with the SDGs (UN, 2015, pp. 5-6). Although, the SDGs have been adopted at the global level in the UN, its implementation needs to be bottom-up (Bardal et al., 2021).

Education for SD is important for both quality education and lifelong learning that enhances the competencies of individuals to bring about transformations in society in a respectful manner for the present as well as the future generations (UNESCO, 2017, p.7). Education for SD is a critical component of consolidated efforts to accomplish all the 17 SDGs as it equips everyone with skills and knowledge to contribute to SD by fostering cultural, economic, and political transformations as well as their individual behavior (p.8). Studies have reported that environmental education at young age appears to have more sustainable effect on

making connections with nature and possibly also results in responsible adults (Ernst & Theimer, 2011; Liefländer et al., 2013). This implies that everyone should know and understand SD and considering its importance at young age necessitates its implementation through education.

2.1.3 Sustainable development in Norwegian curriculum discourse

According to the Norwegian framework plan for kindergarten, young children should acquire understanding of SD and nature conservation (Melis et al., 2000). The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training (UDIR) stated in their policy document that knowledge on SD should be incorporated at all levels of the educational system, and SD is one of the main interdisciplinary topics guiding the Norwegian 2020 primary and secondary school curricula renewal (Kunnskapsløftet, 2020).

However, sustainable development is a complex concept and its challenging for the schools to implement education for SD (Olsson et al., 2015). Munkebye et al. (2020) provided an account of development of Norwegian policies to implement UN's education for SD. Norway developed two strategic plans for education for SD, Utdanningsdirektoratet (2006) and Kunnskapsdepartementet (2012) for the periods 2006-10 and 2012-15, respectively. Later, a new core curriculum was formulated to engage in cross-curricular teaching to address the three interdisciplinary themes of sustainable development, democracy and participation, and public health and wellbeing (Kunnskapsdepartementet, 2016). The interdisciplinary feature of SD involves that teachers from different subjects need to collaborate and need to teach beyond their subject boundaries (Munkebye et al., 2020).

Kunnskapsdepartementet (2016) and UNESCO (2017) stated that dialogical competences such as being able to communicate, participate and interact are important for education for SD, and Munkebye et al. (2020) in their research have reported evidence of untapped potential in Norwegian language subject for teaching SD. They explored the contributions of different subjects such as natural sciences, social studies, Norwegian as language, Mathematics, English, physical education, Christianity, religion, philosophies of life and ethics in teaching sustainable development (p. 802) but they did not mention mother tongue teaching. Looking myself at the two curricula for minority pupils (UDIR, 2020a & 2020b), the topic of sustainable development is not mentioned in the curriculum for mother tongue teaching (UDIR, 2020b). A comprehensive understanding of academic concepts can

be achieved when it's taught in a language that a pupil is fluent in and this brings in the role of language and culture.

2.2 Languages, cultures, and bio-organisms: A necessary combined focus

This section will explore the need to link languages, cultures and bio-organisms for maximizing the benefits of sustainable development.

2.2.1 A combined loss of languages and biodiversity

Human activities are disturbing and destroying the world's ecosystem and this is leading to extinction of species coupled with extinction of human cultures and languages (Maffi et al., 2014, p.8). Languages represent cultural identity and are instrumental in transmitting cultures (p. 8). In addition to transmitting cultures, languages reflect knowledge of various life forms and all the elements that form the ecosystem of humans (Upadhyay & Hasnain, 2017).

Majzoob and Rais (2011) stressed on the need to formulate educational and social programs to encourage the use of endangered languages through the curriculum and the co-curriculum as availability of opportunities to use one's own language can go a long way in preserving and developing one's culture. Although, there has been an increase in migration throughout the world in the 21st century and this has resulted in increase in multilingual students in schools where the main medium of instruction is the dominant language of the country and not the student's native language and/or bilingual learning (Alisaari et al., 2019). In world, most countries are multilingual, but their linguistic policies promote one (majority language) or two languages (majority languages and English) (Stoop, 2017). The result is that a large number of children entering elementary education receive teaching in their second language when some of these children have not yet gained second language skills to the level needed to cope with academic learning in school (Heller et al., 2019). Since, oral linguistic skills are essential in the learning process, these pupils have to overcome additional obstacle of gaining fluency in the second language (p. 531), and it may cause lower mental health, learning difficulties, lower empowerment and participation in regular classrooms, and socialization with peers (Higgen & Mösko, 2020). As people switch from their mother tongue to the dominant language, it also hinders the transmission of mother tongue to younger generations (Maffi et al., 2014, p. 10).

Moreover, linguistic diversity is the knowledge bank that we have built up over the ages and includes the know-how for maintaining and sustainably using some of the highly endangered and biologically diverse environments in the world (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003, p. 43). Different languages have developed their own vocabularies to convey the differences that are significant to their speakers (p. 21). Therefore, languages are said to be the "DNA of cultures" as they encode the cultural knowledge that people inherit from their ancestors (p.21). Unasho (2013) in a study to ascertain intergenerational language transmission and the negative impacts of language loss on biodiversity conservation reported that loss of vocabularies adversely affects the biodiversity conservation as life in a specific human environment depends on the people's ability to express environment using the words of that language. Words are the "cultural genes" of the language (p.13). It has been reported that populations living in interdependence with the environment develop more sustainable ways of living (Harmon & Loh, 2010; Elands et al., 2019). Frainer et al. (2020) presented case studies of how different indigenous communities have been able to protect their ecological systems through the use of their native language.

Linguistic policies play an important role as they steer which languages are promoted by making education available in their language, which can be beneficial in terms of keeping the education system simple to manage but it affects the learning of many pupils for whom the language is new/foreign.

2.2.2 Linguistic diversity in world and its development and/or decline

There is a highly uneven distribution of languages in the world in terms of speakers as only 5% of all languages are spoken by 94% of the world population and the remaining 95% are spoken by 6% of the world population (Grenoble et al., 2011, p. 28). The geographic distribution of languages depicts that one-third of all languages are spoken in Asia, 30% are spoken in Africa, less than 15% are spoken in the Americas and only 3.5% are spoken in Europe (p. 28). In other words, around 350 languages have over one million speakers while eight languages (Mandarin, Spanish, English, Bengali, Hindi, Portuguese, Russian and Japanese) have over 100 million speakers (p. 28); it thus shows the discrepancy of development and the fragility of many languages compared to the power of a few others. Further, the linguistic diversity in Europe is particularly low reflecting the need to promote linguistic diversity.

Language shift is the primary cause for language loss; language shift implies that speakers break off from their native language and switch to a politically and/or economically dominant neighboring culture (Grenoble et al., 2011, p.27). Languages become extinct as mother tongues as they become second language for its speakers due to their usage only in private areas like homes (Loh & Harmon, 2010). As the world became increasingly globalized, the issues of language loss, language endangerment and language extinction were neglected (Upadhyay & Hasnain, 2017). Languages across the world are declining both in their absolute numbers of speakers and the linguistic and cultural diversity they represent (Loh & Harmon, 2010).

The pace of language extinction is so fast that around 95% of the 6000 spoken languages in the world may become extinct in this century and the remaining 5% will be limited to a maximum of twenty language families and more than half of these will belong to only two major language families namely, Indo-European and Niger-Congo (Krauss, 1992). When the number of people shifting to another language increases, a greater number of speakers get concentrated in fewer languages (Loh & Harmon, 2010). Thus, over the past few centuries, hundreds of languages have vanished, and the trend is constantly rising across the world due to the homogenizing pressure on account of national assimilative policies and unequal economic globalization (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003, p. 30). This causes a combined decline in language and biodiversity. Although, the European principle of freedom of movement has facilitated internal migration movements and brought higher diversity in classrooms (Özerk & Özerk, 2019), immigration measures and socio-economic factors are affecting the development of linguistic diversity and language learning.

Small and sparse distribution of population boost linguistic diversity such as in the deserts of Chad, islands of Vanuatu or sparsely distributed population in Alaska (Harrison, 2008: 10 cited in Upadhyay & Hasnain, 2017, p. 117). Migration of people due to urbanization and industrialization coupled with unequal demographic distribution are the factors that result in linguistic diversity (p. 118). Linguistic politics in favor of or at the detriment of minority languages are also a main cause for the expansion or the hindrance of linguistic diversity. However, it is important to note the destruction of linguistic diversity and culture not only affects the targeted minority groups; it *also* affects the host society by failing to reap the benefits of its multilingual and multicultural resources that could have bolstered its ability to

play an important social and economic role on a global scale (Cummins, 2001). It also neglects the individual identity, and it may have severe consequences of exclusion or marginalization of some sections of the population.

On the contrary, linguistic diversity in the world can be nurtured by creating and maintaining a high level of public awareness (Maffi, 2002). There is a need to create an atmosphere that will stimulate the administrators and their governments to formulate adequate language policies and educational programs as well as simultaneously educating the next generation about the benefits of linguistic diversity for health and vitality of both human societies and ecosystems (p. 391). Diversity makes a difference as it has a significant effect on the productivity and stability of natural ecosystems and their role in it, many of which are significant for key development areas (Roe, 2019). There is a need to foster linguistic diversity so that the language survive and thereby support the ecosystems to thrive. Therefore, it is important to continue to use mother tongue as native speakers of a language are the ones who can continue to nurture the language but the usage in public sphere will of course be governed by the linguistic policies of a country.

2.2.3 The significance of mother tongue teaching in minority pupils education

In order to maintain linguistic and cultural diversity on our planet, educational linguistic rights are human rights of utmost importance because intergenerational transfer of languages is the most important factor for their maintenance (Skutnabb-Kangas, 1998). Having to study in a language that is not their mother tongue violates children's right to an appropriate education, and it affects the communication between children and their parents (Cummins, 2001). Mother tongue education in school helps to develop not only mother tongue but also nurtures their abilities in the majority school language. When children learn mother tongue, they learn concepts and develop intellectual skills that help them to perform better in the majority language (p. 18). I therefore argue that the school system should provide mother tongue education to minority pupils. The objective of the mother tongue framework is to increase the access to education and to improvise the quality of education by providing teaching in the first language prior to transition to other languages (Benson, 2004, p. 17). Mother tongue based multilingual education focusses on using the native language as a medium of instruction with an aim to achieve equitable educational opportunities for the speakers of native languages (Rumenapp, 2014).

It has been reported that teaching in mother tongue can effectively blend indigenous knowledge systems into formal curriculum (Laguarda & Woodward, 2013). Baker (2018) in their qualitative study on dual language learners reported that the bilingual teachers believed that bilingualism should be viewed as an asset and the bilingual families should be considered as resource to the community. Failure to support native language have consequences both on students with migrant background as well as students of the majority population as the latter fail to make use of the linguistic resources of former. Overall, there is an urgent need to raise environmentally conscious individuals as there has been an increased realization of environmental issues since early 2000's and this has affected mother tongue curriculum and educational policies in many countries (Uyar, 2016).

Studying in a foreign language increases early dropout rates and makes learning to read and write more challenging (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003 p. 43). Also, there is a prevailing misconception that indigenous and minority languages cannot be used for meaningful purposes and cannot be adopted to modern technological information society (p. 43). Bøyesen (2009, p. 44) provided an account of the importance of mother tongue teaching. First, mother tongue is the tool for acquiring knowledge about the world. When a pupil must study in a language that is yet to be mastered, the continuity of concept formation is affected. It is daunting for the child to master language and understand the concepts in second language, simultaneously. When the concepts are understood in mother tongue, it is a smooth to transfer the knowledge gained to the second language. Further, socialization and family relations grow stronger and the parents can support child's learning in multiple ways. Mother tongue teaching also safeguards identity, culture and traditions (p. 44-46). Mother tongue instruction in the initial school stage forms a strong 'bridge' for pupils for the transfer of literacy skills from the already known language/s to a new language and thus support the learning of second/additional language and academic achievement (Thomas & Collier, 2002, p. 8). Since the present study is based on Norway, it's vital to present linguistic diversity in the Norwegian context.

2.2.4 Linguistic diversity in Norway and the Norwegian teaching policies

In the Norwegian school context linguistic majority students are the students with Norwegian as their first language and linguistic minority students are the students with home language other than Norwegian (Vikøy & Haukås, 2021). In the political school

discourse, the immigrants are labelled "linguistic minority pupils" (*minoritetsspråklige elever*) along with Norway's "national minorities" and "the indigenous people", the Sami's (Özerk & Özerk, 2019, p. 350). The linguistic minority students could have lived in Norway and could be competent in Norwegian while the others could be newly arrived immigrants who have just begin to learn Norwegian (Vikøy & Haukås, 2021).

The official languages of Norway are Sami and Norwegian with the latter being the majority language (Özerk & Todal, 2013). Apart from these, the indigenous Sami people of Norway have three different languages, Northern Sami, Lulesami and Southern Sami (Özerk, 2013). Kven, Romani, Romanes and Norwegian sign languages come under the national minority languages (Vikøy & Haukås, 2021). The foreign language subjects are usually, English, French, German, Spanish. Mother tongue teaching for language minorities is a transition subject offered to minority students who are on their path to becoming proficient in Norwegian (p.2). Further, the linguistic minorities in Norway comprise of about 200 languages (Özerk, 2013). In some schools in Oslo, more than 90% students have their registered first language other than Norwegian (Özerk & Kerchner, 2014) and this depicts a wide variety of languages at a particular school.

Equality and equity are the foundation stones of Norwegian public educational policy as the 1997 law of education and national curriculum document of 2006 emphasize the concept of equity, "to provide equal opportunities in education regardless of abilities, aptitudes, age, gender, skin color, sexual orientation, social background, religious or ethnic background, place of residence, family education and family finances" (cited in Øzerk & Kerchner, 2014, p. 443). According to the Norwegian education policy, consideration is given to special needs of language minority pupils in order for them to be equipped to take up higher education and employment. In order to accomplish equity in education, "positive discrimination", "inclusive education" and "adapted education" are used (p. 443). However, language minority students need to be tested to assess their proficiency in Norwegian but there is no standardized test for it. The additional language services and bilingual support need parental approval (p. 457). Although multilingualism and linguistic diversity are considered as a resource in the curriculum with an aim to improve student's multicultural awareness, there is absence of guidelines on the interpretation of the competence aims and

this leads to different understandings of multilingualism and how it is valued by the teachers (Vikøy & Haukås, 2021, p. 2).

Mother tongue teaching is no longer offered to the students if the school considers that the student has gained proficiency in Norwegian (p. 4). However, mother tongue teaching and bilingual subject teaching in Norway for minority pupils is marginalized (Loona & Wennerholem, 2017). As per the Education Act (1998, section 2-8) in Norway, primary and secondary school children are entitled to get education according to their ability. Further, the Education Act states that the minority language pupils have a right to special instruction in Norwegian as second language until they are fluent enough to follow regular class teaching in Norwegian. They also have the right to mother tongue instruction, "if necessary" as it is stipulated in the section 2.8 of the Education Act (1998). This expression "if necessary" is ambivalent because who decides upon this type of teaching? There is no doubt when mother tongue teaching is conditioned to the ability in the Norwegian language, that it is the Norwegian dominant side deciding upon the type of teaching for minority students. If they do get mother tongue and/or bilingual learning, this formal disposition can only be applied for up to two years.

Another key principle for the Norwegian school system is adapted education (*tilpasset opplæring*); it means that the education shall be adapted to the educational needs and life situations of pupils (Bøyesen, 2009, p.40). Adaptive education comes under the purview of ordinary teaching (Gøranson et al., 2020). The objective of adapted ordinary education is to provide opportunity to every student for best possible learning by adapting the curriculum and teaching methods in the pupil's classroom (p. 274). In other words, mother tongue teaching and/or bilingual teaching is not considered a right on its own. Instead, it is dependent on the right to adapted language education in Norwegian and the student's proficiency in Norwegian (Loona & Wennerholem, 2017, p. 318). This thus means that a student with sufficient skills in Norwegian language to follow regular classes in Norwegian denies him/her to have a right to mother tongue/bilingual subject teaching. It is at the discretion of the school administration to decide if the student can be given mother tongue teaching/bilingual teaching (p. 318). As such, the principle of adapted education is not really adapted to the real language needs as mother tongue gets invisible.

Mother tongue instruction varies greatly from place to place in Norway (Loona & Wennerholem, 2017; Norozi, 2019). For instance, there were only four pupils receiving native language training and bilingual education in Oslo and in Rogaland there were 230 such pupils (SSB, 2021b). The number of pupils who received only mother tongue teaching and those who received only bilingual teaching across Norway were 1989 and 6655, respectively (SSB, 2021b). In the municipalities of Bergen and Trondheim 88-89% students attending classes in adapted Norwegian were offered some kind of mother tongue and/or bilingual teaching whereas only 20% of students were offered such teaching in the municipalities of Oslo and Drammen in the year 2013 (Loona & Wennerholem, 2017, p. 318). Many small municipalities in Norway often opt out of providing these services due to the lack of manpower or/and funds (p.318).

The curriculum for <u>basic Norwegian for linguistic minorities</u> is different from the <u>mother</u> <u>tongue curriculum</u> as sustainable development is a pluridisciplinary theme in basic Norwegian curriculum. On the other hand, mother tongue curriculum lacks SD as a theme putting the mother tongue pupils at a disadvantage.

Thus, the decline of the use of mother tongue teaching is problematic. Language, literacy and development are interconnected and affect each other in several ways (Toppo & Rahman, 2020). Dominant languages in school settings can create linguistic imbalance as mother tongue and other regional languages get neglected (p. 91). Linguistic diversity is tied with cultural diversity that is explained in the next section.

2.2.5 Cultural Diversity

Collard and Foley (2002, p. 2) defined culture as "a social group that shares some set of traits such as languages, dialects, belief system, political organization, kinship system and so on, and which is distinct, either in its own view or the view of other such units". Human communities have differentiated through cultural evolution rather than biological evolution since the genesis of the species. The human species have remained biologically and genetically homogenous, but broad social, cultural and linguistic differences have existed between the world's populations (p. 3). Cultural diversity entails the wide variety of worldviews, lifestyles, knowledge banks, value systems and this makes a complex global web of human cultures, the "ethnosphere" (Maffi et al. 2014, p. 8). Today's cultural diversity is possibly a fraction of the diversity that has existed since the human civilization came into

existence (Pagel & Mace, 2014, p. 275). Human cultures are analogous to biological species in the sense that the latter carry genetic adaptations to their environments and the former evolved as a response to social life. Further, similar to the species that do not interbreed, human cultures are often resistant to influence from other cultures. Cultures are also vertically transmitted like genetic information (p. 275).

2.3 Finding solutions to environmental threats by promoting linguistic diversity

Sæverot and Torgersen (2022 p.3) identified climate change and decline in biodiversity as two of the top ten existential threats of human life that are largely due to human activities. These threats can be addressed holistically by nurturing linguistic diversity which can promote biocultural diversity and check climate change. Biocultural diversity is a complex that originates from the co-existence and overlap of biological and cultural diversities.

2.3.1 Climate change

In Norway, although petroleum sector is the largest contributor to the economy; agriculture, forestry, fisheries, aquaculture, and hydropower also form important elements of it and they are all climate sensitive sectors (O'Brien et al., 2006). Further, anthropogenic climate change can result in new, largely unpredictable and challenging issues for the society (Næss, 2005) and Covid-19 is the latest example of it (Loureiro & Allo, 2021). It is highly important to address the human dimensions of climate change and gain an understanding of the ways in which different groups understand climate change issues which is an area of empirical research still in its infancy (Scoville-Simonds, 2018). Sociologists, policy makers, corporations and NGO's are striving to find ways to engage their citizens in climate change issues (Scannell & Gifford, 2011), and there is a need to educate students to dynamically construct meaning and get involved in critical thinking in order to find solutions to the climate change problem (Castek & Dwyer, 2018). Gavin et al. (2017) in their study on climatic conditions and demography shaping language diversity reported that climatic conditions are important in shaping language diversity patterns. Fløttum et al. (2017, p.1) stated that climate change is not only a physical phenomenon but it's also "political, social, cultural and communicational".

2.3.2 Sustaining biodiversity through strong cultural and linguistic diversity

Biodiversity refers to the diversity of life and ranges from genes and microbes to the predators at highest level and the whole ecosystem (Roe et al., 2019). Unfortunately, anthropogenic climate changes are destroying biodiversity thousand times faster than the natural changes (p. 4). And it still seems that although climate change is getting wider attention, biodiversity loss has not been able to get as much attention as a global problem yet (Legagneux et al., 2018). However, the situation is changing rapidly as signs of many losses become clear. It comes from that human presence on the earth has impacted the global and local patterns of biodiversity (Kim & Byrne, 2006). There is a risk of up to million species disappearing in few decades as a result of human activities, and such a rapid diversity loss has never happened in history before (Frainer et al., 2020). For example, DePalma et al. (2017) provided an account of the effect of human activities on the phylogenetic diversity of European bees and reported that half of the EU 27 countries had lost more than 10% of their average local species diversity relative to the predicted local diversity in uninhabited semi-natural/natural habitat. Loss of species negatively impacts economy, ethics and aesthetics in society and is a permanent change (Tershy et al., 2015). Human diversity may play a significant role in biodiversity conservation as biodiversity acts as the substrate for the evolutionary processes (Cocks, 2006). Decline in diversity increases the chances of life getting destroyed as there is no resilience for environmental change (p. 187). A rapid decline in biodiversity can jeopardize the survival of human race in future and these have led to discussions on the relationship between sustainable development of biodiversity and future of humankind (Hong, 2011).

2.3.3 Connecting languages, cultures, and bio-organisms

Environmental stress affects both species diversity and cultural diversity (Kassam, 2008). In this thesis, I argue for using the emergent concept of biocultural diversity. While biocultural diversity primarily highlights the intertwining of biological diversity and cultural diversity, it also brings out the multidirectional and dynamic nature of interactions between human beings and nature (Buizer et al., 2016, p. 9).

An explanation to the correlation between cultural and biodiversity is that the factors fostering generation or maintenance of species richness could also be important for generation or maintenance of language richness (Moore et al., 2002). Huisman et al. (2019)

investigated the extent of language diversification following the same patterns as biological diversification and reported that geography influenced the cultural processes-language diversification in similar ways as biological processes-species diversification. Experts also have suggested that the diversity of ideas carried by different languages and cultures is as much needed as diversity of species and ecosystems for sustaining human life on earth as this diversity gives the maximum possible spectrum of solutions to the challenges of survival (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003, p. 29). International organizations such as UNEP, UNESCO, CBD, the IUCN have highly acknowledged the link between biodiversity and cultural diversity (Hong, 2013).

2.3.4 Looking at biocultural diversity

Loh and Harmon (2005) worked out the index of biocultural diversity by studying the data of 238 countries and reported Papua New Guinea, Indonesia, Cameroon and Columbia as the most biologically diverse countries. Norway, however, was not found in their top 20 list based on index of biocultural diversity. Furthermore, different scholars have given various definitions of biocultural diversity as mentioned below:

It includes biological diversity at all its levels, from genes to populations to species to ecosystems; cultural diversity in all its manifestations (including linguistic diversity), ranging from individual ideas to entire cultures; and, importantly, the interactions among all of these (Loh & Harmon, 2005, p. 231-32).

Further, one may argue for that "biocultural diversity comprises the diversity of life in all of its manifestations – biological, cultural, and linguistic – which are interrelated (and likely coevolved) within a complex socio-ecological adaptive system" (Maffi, 2010, p. 5). Thus, "biocultural diversity is an evolving perspective for studying the interrelatedness between people and their natural environment, not only in ecoregional hotspots and cultural landscapes, but also in urban green spaces" (Elands et al., 2019, p. 29).

Therefore, diversity of life consists of diversity of plants and animal species, habitats, ecosystems, cultures, and languages; the connections between these diversities have evolved overtime through the accruing effects of mutual adaptations at the global level plausibly of co-evolution of humans and environment at local level (Maffi, 2010, p.6).

Biocultural diversity involves adaptive interactions between the arenas of diversitybiological, cultural and abiotic. (Harmon et al., 2010).

Harmon (1996) reported that 10 out of 12 countries with high biodiversity are also among the top 25 most linguistically diverse countries (Skutnabb Kangas & Harmon, 2017, p. 20). Skutnabb-Kangas et al. (2003, p. 10) also reported both linguistic and cultural diversity increase the likelihood of human adaptation. There is growing evidence that both linguistic/cultural diversity and biodiversity are in great danger (Rapport & Maffi, 2010; Skutnabb-Kangas et al., 2003, p.9). In other words, linguistic homogenization is often accompanied with ecosystem erosion (Stepp et al., 2004). The linguistic, cultural, and biological diversities are under threat from the same forces and the loss of these diversities would have serious consequences for human life and earth (Maffi, 2005). Majzub and Rais (2011) stated that the focus on national languages and national cultures is well intentioned but it greatly affects indigenous languages and cultures. It is estimated that by 2100, up to 90 percent of the languages in the world would cease to exist (Maffi, 2005). This would have grave consequences on the biological diversity and the ecosystems of the world. Majzub and Rais (2011) reported globalization, social changes, and migration from rural to urban areas as the causes for serious decline in number of languages.

Harmon et al. (2010) collated the following significant points from the research by different scholars and disciplines:

-there is a significant overlap of distribution of species and languages

-there are many threats that are common to biological and/or cultural diversity

-it is often thought that indigenous people retain their biological and cultural diversity -existing disciplines are unable to link diversity in all its life forms necessitating the need for a novel interdisciplinary approach.

-the novel approach needs to articulate practical measures to nurture world's diversity.

There are strong connections between cultural heritage and environmental goals and thereby between world heritage and environmental education (Peters, 2017). In many

world heritage sites this connection and interdependence of biological diversity and local cultures is evident, and these have developed over the years through mutual adaptations between human beings and their environment, interacting with each other in myriad ways, and form the existential elements of the resilience of communities (p. 20). This fact makes it compelling that any policy formulated to achieve sustainable development must consider the interrelationship of biological diversity with the local cultural context (p. 20). Therefore, there is a need for an interdisciplinary approach that can integrate biological, cultural, and linguistic diversity into one frame in order to expedite their growth and address the challenges (Harmon, 1995; Krauss, 1996), an interdisciplinary approach that is also needed to develop in education.

2.3.5 Biocultural diversity projects and language teaching

Humans depend on their surrounding landscape and biological resources and in the course of civilization have developed new species both in plants and animals that has promoted cultural diversity such as food culture, and residence culture (Hong, 2013). Humans have realized the importance of the association of their culture with various bio-organisms that has existed throughout the history of humankind and this has led to the growth of protected areas and sanctuaries as the residents of these areas recognize them as places that represent their identity (p. 103).

For example, the conservation of biological diversity is the key element of programs and missions of botanic gardens and considering the link between the threats to biological and cultural diversity incorporating awareness of cultural diversity as a part of their conservation mission (Dunn, 2017). The Royal Botanic Garden of Jordan exhibits botanical history and diversity of the country along with its geologic and cultural history thereby showcasing the interdependence of biological and cultural conservation. Some other projects that are working on the incorporation of indigenous cultures in the restoration of habitats of declining species and revitalize practices and knowledge are large-scale indigenous-led surveillance of wildlife populations (Luzar et al., 2011 cited in Wilder et al., 2016, p.499), carbon stocks (Butt et al, 2015 cited in Wilder et al. 2016, p. 499).

The link between natural environment and culture exists in the form that the process of culture, behavior, beliefs appear and are encrypted in the landscapes (Hong, 2013).

Throughout the world the regions with high biological diversity tend to be the abodes of ethnic minorities with high density in linguistic diversity and are places of significance in terms of cultural diversity (p. 103). Analysis of three case studies of human ecological relations in the Circumpolar Arctic revealed that conservation of ecological and cultural diversity is intertwined and requires transcending national boundaries (Kassem, 2008). And importantly, in order to promote sustainable biocultural diversity, linguistic diversity and biodiversity should be conserved simultaneously rather than in isolation (Unasho, 2013). Since, areas of high biodiversity tend to have a high number of different languages (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003 p. 39), there is a need for an integrated biocultural approach to planet's environmental crisis (p. 43).

Humans adapt themselves to their environments when they use resources to sustain themselves in those environments and in this process, they acquire deep knowledge about the different species, their relationships and ecosystem functions (Maffi, 2008). This traditional knowledge of the environment helps them to nurture nature in their environment thereby fostering SD, and language is a crucial tool by which this knowledge is passed from one generation to the next (p. 14). This knowledge remains dynamic in the societies that have a direct link and dependence on their environments such as the indigenous communities that form the largest chunk of cultural diversity (p. 14). The education system also plays a vital role. Unfortunately, the world's ecosystems, cultures, languages are slowly getting destroyed by global economic, political, social, and educational forces making the biocultural world fragile with an uncertain future of all the species including humans (Maffi et al., 2014). Getting disconnected from their ecosystems, humans are destroying conditions for life while suppressing other life ways that could help them learn about sustainable ways of living (p. 8). There is an urgent need to protect, conserve, restore and sustain the diversity of life in nature and culture and this can be done if we make biocultural diversity a societal goal (p. 8). It also must become a key educational purpose. A part of this endeavor must focus on revitalizing mother tongues and indigenous people keeping their traditional livelihoods based on local natural resources (Wilder et al., 2016). It must foster the diverse languages taught in mother tongue and bilingual teaching in Norway and address the decline of this teaching.

In sum, the theory chapter explained the significance of sustainable development and how it is defined in the Norwegian school discourse. The provision in education system regarding mother tongue teaching education has also been described. Existing literature on the themes of sustainable development, mother tongue, linguistic diversity, climate change and biocultural diversity has been presented to provide a background knowledge for the reader to understand the main research question. This chapter is followed by the chapter on methodological issues and choices made while carrying out the study.

3 Methodological Issues and Choices

This chapter describes the qualitative fieldwork I carried out. In order to facilitate the transition of newly arrived minority language pupils to their new language of instruction, there are language schools in Norway. These schools have teachers that teach basic Norwegian (NO-T) and teachers who provide mother tongue/bilingual (BT) support. The objective was to gain a deep insight into the views and opinions of teachers on the concept of SD and the method employed for this was FGD. Empirical data was generated by conducting FGD to bring out the perspectives of the two different groups of teachers, NO-T and BT. In this chapter, I also focus on validity and reliability on the informants' perspectives with least possible researcher's bias. Further, the chapter describes ethical considerations, limitations and benefits of the present study.

3.1 Data collection

3.1.1 Access and informant recruitment

In order to answer the research questions of this study, I specifically wanted to meet bilingual teachers and teachers teaching basic Norwegian to newly arrived minority language pupils for the purpose of this study as they were the language teachers for these pupils. A language school on the Norwegian West coast which is an authorized center for providing language and social studies teaching to newly arrived immigrants was selected for the study on the basis of convenience. In order for the study to be in compliance with the competent research authority, approval for carrying out this research was obtained from Norwegian Centre for Research Data (NSD) (see appendix 3) by filing an online application. The rector of the language school was approached by the researcher and the purpose of the study, the significance of the study, and the requirements for selecting the informants were explained. The NSD approval letter was helpful in gaining permission from the language school to carry out the study at this school and for recruiting informants for the study.

3.1.2 Sampling

The sample selection was both purposive and convenience. It can be said that the sampling was purposive as the two focus groups were formed with the objective to know the views and opinions of the two types of language teachers in order to find answers for my research

questions. The informants were also selected so as to have cultural diversity within groups and those teaching different grade levels. These requirements were explained to the head of the multilingual department *(avdelingsleder, flerspraklig avdeling)* and the recruitments were made by this individual. The limiting factor here was that the researcher was fluent only in English language and this meant that only those teachers could be selected for the study who were fluent in English. At the same time, the sample was a convenient sample as within each group, teachers who agreed to participate in the study and could meet in a group at a specific time/date with the researcher were selected for the study. All the communication between the head and the researcher for recruiting informants and scheduling appointments took place either face-to face, via emails or through phone calls.

3.1.3 Challenges with recruitment

The Covid-19 pandemic was a major challenge with the recruitment of participants for the study. When the first contact was established with the language school in December 2021 to carry out the research, the pandemic had escalated in Norway and the new regulations required moving the teaching from on-campus to virtual teaching. At this point of time, the teachers expressed their inability to participate in the study as they were busy preparing for virtual teaching. The language school was contacted again after the regulations were lifted and teaching was switched from virtual to on-campus teaching in January 2022. At this point of time, the teachers were willing to participate but due to sickness among the teachers, it was challenging to have the group discussion while following the Covid-19 regulations. Therefore, FGD had to be rescheduled a couple of times and were finally conducted in February and March 2022.

3.1.4 Sample size

Ideally, focus group (FG) should have 6 to 8 participants but focus groups can work successfully with as few as three participants and as many participants (Mishra, 2016). In view of the short duration of the master's thesis, the covid-19 challenges, and the number of teachers available to participate in group discussion, it was decided to have two focus groups with three participants in each group. However, at the time of data collection, in one of the focus groups only two participants could be recruited because of the aforesaid challenges.

3.2 Methodological choices

3.2.1 Focus group discussion

Focus groups as a primary method of data collection can be used either to explore new areas or research questions or to evaluate the existing areas from research participants own perspectives (Wilkinson, 1998). FGD unfold the meaning encompassing an issue which includes both, the meanings that people hold for the discussion topic and how they derive those meanings. Further, focus groups create diversity and difference within or between groups (Lunt & Livingstone, 1996). Focus group is characterized by the participant's involvement, similarity among participants in terms of research interest, the generation of qualitative data and discussion targeted on particular research topic (Mishra, 2016). It's not uncommon for two focus groups having same demographic and life-phase characteristics to have different perspectives on the same topic (p. 2).

In the present study the purpose of using FGD as a primary method of data collection was to gain an understanding of teacher's perspective on teaching SD to the pupils.

The focus group method is a form of group interview in which there are several participants (in addition to the moderator/facilitator); there is an emphasis in the questioning on a particularly fairly tightly defined topic; and the accent is upon interaction within the group and the joint construction of meaning (Bryman, 2016, p. 501).

Research employing FGD seeks to stimulate a richer discussion through interaction between the participants (Kitzinger, 1994). It generates experiences and insights that would be less attainable through interviews or participant observation (Farnsworth & Boon, 2010; Boateng, 2012). The primary reason governing my choice of FGD as data collection method is that the FGD would be a platform for the informants to discuss their insights and experiences with one another on the topic and this knowledge generated through discussion cannot be acquired through interviews.

FGD allows to get insight into how people "make sense of a phenomenon and construct meanings around it" (Bryman, 2016, p. 502). The aim of the present study is to collect data relevant to the topic while trying to understand what the participants think based on their

experience of teaching the newly arrived minority language pupils. As the participants engaged in discussion, the teachers discussed the theme of SD and the challenges that they face during their interaction with the pupils.

The aim of FGD is not to achieve consensus among the participants but to acquire knowledge about their perspectives and experiences (Hennink, 2014 p.1). Focus groups can be used to get information about a range of ideas and feelings that individuals have about certain topics and for highlighting the differences in perspectives between groups (Rabiee, 2004). Two FG were formed for this study with the notion that there could be possible differences in the way the two groups of teachers think about teaching SD and also about fostering diversity through teaching languages. The first FG comprised of three bilingual teachers who provided mother tongue support to the pupils and the second focus group consisted of two teachers who taught basic Norwegian to the newly arrived minority language pupils.

In an FGD, questions are designed so as to stimulate discussion in order for the group participants to reveal a wide range of views (Hennink, 2014, p. 2). Each question in the present study was broad in the sense that there could be many different answers for it; for instance, the question on the meaning and understanding of SD would be answered in a different way by each person and the different answers would encourage discussion among the participants as they agree, disagree, supplement, complement or contradict each other's answers. FGD is designed to support a congenial atmosphere where members of the group can discuss the area of research with one another (Boateng, 2012). It was decided to have the FGD in the school itself as it was the informant's regular workplace and it would be a comfortable setting for the teachers to participate in the FGD and discussion that takes place would be more natural.

As the participants interact with each other, they discuss the topic, argue with one another, try convince each other of their point of view, tend to agree or disagree, ask each other questions resulting in a discussion that is in-depth as well as broad in range (Boateng, 2012). According to Lunt and Livingstone (1996) instead of considering group context of FGD as a convenient source of opinions, the group context could be significant to the theoretical framework of research. For instance, in the present study, the two focus groups were BT and NO-T teachers and the curriculum for both the groups differs in terms of the theme of

sustainable development. In the curriculum for the basic Norwegian teachers SD is a theme that they have to teach starting from primary school through high school (UDIR, 2020a). However, the curriculum for BT teachers does not have the theme of SD (UDIR, 2020b). Further, in focus groups, there were teachers from various grade levels and this ensured that the research topic was discussed from various perspectives.

3.2.2 Rapport building

There was no prior personal contact with the administrators and the teachers of the language school ahead of the research project. The consent letter was explained well to the participants in order to make them comfortable and open to sharing their thoughts and views on the research topic. More specifically, I explained why I chose this topic for my master's thesis, the purpose of my study and the significance of language teachers in the community and this help me build rapport with them. The questions on background information such as grade levels taught, number of years of teaching acted as the ice breakers.

The following table illustrates the profile of the informants who participated in the study.

Pseudonym	Sex	Type of language teacher	Grade levels taught	Teaching experience (years)
Audrey	Female	BT	primary and lower secondary	<10
Kylie	Female	BT	primary	<10
Chloe	Female	BT	lower secondary	>10
Hazel	Female	NO-T	primary	<10
Molly	Female	NO-T	primary	>10

Table 1: Informants Profile

I have used pseudonyms to ensure the confidentiality and privacy of the informants. All the teachers who took part in the study were females and there were three BT and two NO-T. The particular grade levels taught by the informants have been presented as broad categories of the Norwegian school system⁵- primary school, lower secondary school, and higher secondary school in order to de-identify data. Among the BT teachers, there were two teachers who had a teaching experience of less than 10 years and one teacher had an experience of more than 10 years. In the NO-T group one teacher had teaching experience of more than 10 years and the other one had teaching experience of less than 10 years. In the BT group, there was one teacher who was teaching primary grades, one teacher who was teaching lower secondary grades. The two NO-T teachers were teaching different grade levels in primary school. Thus, the groups were heterogenous in terms of grade levels taught and the teaching experience.

3.2.3 Group dynamics

The teachers were educated professionals. They did not have any obligation to share their information with me. However, being teachers, they were very much willing and cooperative to share their thoughts with me on the study topic. The way they interacted with me was like a colleague and I believe this was advantageous for my study as they felt free to share information with me. So, in terms of researcher-informant group dynamics, it was a well-balanced discussion.

Further, in each FG, the teachers were colleagues at the same level and they were not in a hierarchy, there was no significant power relation between the participants of a group discussion and I did not observe any one of them dominating the other. Rather, they being colleagues were friendly with each other and the discussions were very open as they would sometimes laugh when sharing some of their experiences and would relate to each other on their teaching experiences. For instance, "Oh well, I have experienced the same with my pupils". There were no major differences on the thoughts shared within a group. However, as expected the views and thoughts of the two groups were differently articulated on the same topic.

⁵ <u>General information about education in Norway (nokut.no)</u>

3.2.4 The researcher's role

I was a complete stranger to the informants, and I think it made them more comfortable to share their thoughts and views on the study topic. I was allocated 75 minutes for each FGD by the language school and this really helped me to keep the discussion on track as I needed to get maximum information from my informants on the study topic during this time duration. My role was to be an active listener as my informants shared their information. The informants were allocated to the study by the head of the department and I had no control over it, this ensured neutrality in the research.

3.3 Data analysis

3.3.1 The transcription process

The FGD were recorded on an encrypted voice recorder and each discussion lasted 45 to 60 minutes. Both the group discussions were transcribed within two days of their recording. It took around 5 hours for each transcription as I went through the recordings several times so that I could reconstruct the voice recording as a text as close to the discussion as possible. The transcriptions were done with pseudonyms so that the informants could not be identified. The voice recordings were deleted from the voice recorder immediately after the transcription. Spoken language derived from discussion is the primary source of data but reflections about the interview, the settings and recording the non-verbal communication expressed by group members can add value to the construction of data (Rabbie, 2004). The notes taken during the FGD were used to supplement the transcription from the voice recording.

Inconsistent sentences and minor grammatical errors which are natural in oral speech were edited in order to make the excerpts presentable with the goal of keeping the scripts as realistic as possible and reflect what was discussed during FGD. This was done with due care so as to not change the meaning of personal statements.

All personally identifiable data materials were stored securely during the study period as per the guidelines for data storage for Norwegian Centre for Data Research.

3.3.2 Coding

Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data by employing step-by-step approach described by Braun and Clarke (2006). In the initial steps, I read the transcript several times

while making initial notes. Codes were created across the data throughout the process of reading and these codes were then either merged or discarded. The repetitions, similarities, keywords and concepts were identified and eventually grouped under the following seven themes:

- 1. sustainable development
- 2. importance of languages in teaching sustainable development
- 3. importance of mother tongue
- 4. climate change
- 5. diversity
- 6. connection with nature
- 7. biocultural diversity

Thematic analysis is a flexible approach that is not bound with any theory and provides core skills in analyzing qualitative data especially for novice qualitative researchers (Braun & Clarke, 2006)

3.4 Ethical Considerations

The Norwegian National Research Ethics Committee (NESH, 2016)⁶ guidelines for research ethics were followed for the ethical considerations of the present study. According to concepts of sustainability and prudence in research ethics (NENT,1997 as cited in NESH, 2016), researchers must ensure that their research does not breach any laws and regulations or pose a risk to people, society or nature. This was accomplished by obtaining approval from NSD. Further, consent was taken from the administration of the language school regarding conducting the study with their teachers as informants of the study. Moreover, the scope of this research was limited to collecting the views and opinions of informants on the research topic. In the present study, data was collected from individuals therefore the aspects of human dignity, privacy, informed consent, confidentiality, storage of personal data, responsibility for avoiding harm and respect for third parties described in NESH (2016) guidelines were of high significance.

⁶ NESH (2021) could not be used as its English version is not available yet

3.4.1 Human dignity

Human dignity in data collection was ensured by not putting undue pressure on any informant to discuss a topic which they did not want to discuss. Further, before beginning the FGD, they were also made aware of their right to withdraw from the research at any time.

3.4.2 Privacy

The personal data of the informants was processed strictly as described in the consent form (Appendix 1). In the present study, the informants could be identified directly or indirectly as part of their communities therefore, both the informants and the language school were anonymized in the thesis to prevent their traceability.

3.4.3 Informed consent

Nygaard (2017, p. 39) states that informed consent means that the "informants know what they are getting themselves into". According to Ryen (2016), obtaining informed consent from the research participants implies that they know that they are participating in research work, and they can withdraw from the research anytime as per their will. Each of the study participant received a letter of informed consent in English (all the participating teachers had the ability to read, speak and understand English). This letter contained a brief of the study with a short description of the nature of research tools, information about storing and processing personal data, consent for voluntary participation with an explanation of the informants right to withdraw. The letter was distributed among the participants before the FGD and they were collected from the participants at the time of FGD. I also read the consent letter out loud at the start of actual face-to-face group discussion. Therefore, the participants were well aware of their anonymity, confidentiality and voluntary participation.

The informed consent ensured that they realize it was their individual choice to participate in the research. The awareness of their right to withdrawal meant that they did not feel pressurized to reveal information and if they faced a situation like that, they could simply withdraw from the research. I believe that obtaining informed consent from the FGD participants added quality to the data as the informants were able to contribute towards FGD more freely as they knew the nature of research and were aware of their rights.

3.4.4 Confidentiality

Confidentiality implies that the research is obliged to protect the identity of informants so that any bits of information cannot be related to the informant's identity, place, and location of research (Ryen, 2016).

The anonymity and confidentiality regarding the participant's identity and information shared was clearly laid out in the consent letter. Nygaard (2017, p.46) stated that usually in interviews people give out more information than necessary and this may make them vulnerable for identification. I thus presented my findings in a way that background information of the informants and place of research is totally anonymized and *who said what* in FGD cannot be traced back to a person or place of research. The aspect of confidentiality was important in my research as in FGD there could have been sudden outbursts of information that could have revealed more of their personal information. Further, any personal information revealed during the discussion was omitted from the findings. Myself as a researcher was aware of my boundaries for getting information on the research topic from the informants. I very well understood that protecting the identity of the informants came first when collecting data from them.

Another important aspect is trust which is the faith that the informants build up in the researcher. Trust helps to build good relations with the informants (Ryen, 2016). Trust of the informants in the researcher can improve the quality of data as they would not have inhibitions in sharing their thoughts (Nygaard, 2017, p. 47). Core principles of ethics such as doing the research honestly, having regard for the informants, having respect for own profession and choosing the degree of transparency in research by keeping the informants protection on priority helped to build trust with the informants. The aspect of trust in ethical standards acted as a reminder to me that I have to carry out the work sincerely and honestly then only I can gain the trust of my informants and this would also ensure the quality of my collected data. The initial conversation with the informants explaining the aim and significance of the study, the NSD approval of the study and the distribution of consent form prior to data collection laid the foundation of trust here.

3.4.5 Storage of personal data

Encrypted voice recorders were used to record the FGD and informed consent was taken on paper. The voice recorders and the informed consent forms were kept under lock until the

data was transcribed. After the data was transcribed, the voice recordings were permanently deleted from the voice recorders and the consent forms were immediately destroyed after the data was anonymized.

3.4.6 Responsibility of avoiding harm

The present study did not entail any physical injury to the participants. The questionnaire used for carrying out FGD was also put up in the application for NSD assessment of the study. In the FGD, no strain was put on the informants to answer any of the questions and this ensured that there was no mental pressure on them.

3.4.7 Respect for third parties

It is stated in NESH (2016) guidelines to protect the privacy of not only the informants but also of any third parties affected by research. Here, the teachers of the language school were the informants and their pupils were the possible third party. The transcription was done with due care so that if there was a mention of a pupil's language, race, ethnicity or country, the information was either anonymized or completely omitted.

3.5 Reliability and validity in the research project

3.5.1 Reliability

Reliability refers to the degree of accuracy of a measurement or calculation and is a significant marker for data quality (Wagemaker, 2020 p.11).

Data collected in this study was reliable as it was free of biases and judgements as I was a stranger for my informants. I believe that the informants felt totally free to express their thoughts and views as they had willingly volunteered to participate in the study and had no pressure from their employer or the researcher. I had no experience of being a teacher colleague and this worked in favor of my study as I could not personally relate to the information that they shared with me thereby, eliminating the scope of any kind of judgement from me. The information they shared with me was absolutely new to me and I was intrigued by their discussion on the research topic limiting my role in the discussion to ensuring that it did not drift away from the research topic. Further, being teachers of the same subject, they were very active in discussion on the research topic and small groups ensured that each of the informants had the opportunity to freely express themselves.

The sample size of the study is small (five informants only) and the data are the views and opinions of these five informants. If the data is collected from another group of teachers in another municipality or county, it will be different from the present data as views and opinions of different people cannot be the same. Further, the informants were the teachers at the language school. The BT were teaching/had taught at both the language school and the regular school and their perspectives were a mix of their experiences at the two kinds of schools. On the other hand, NO-T were teaching only at the language school which as described by the teachers are more focused on making the pupils gain fluency in Norwegian. It is a likely that the teachers teaching Norwegian in regular schools will have different opinions.

3.5.2 Validity

Validity refers to the extent to which an account is representative of a social phenomenon that is being studied (Mullings, 1999). In the initial phase of my research, I selected purposive sampling to discuss the research topic with the two categories of teachers in the language school (BT and NO-T) so that data sets from both the categories had equal representation in the data.

While preparing the interview guide, I made sure that my questions were targeting my topic of interest. Thus, I elaborated the interview guide after reading the theories related to SD and relating to the field of research focusing on bilingual learning in Norway and the revised objectives of the curriculum of 2020.

"An interview guide is prepared to ensure that the same basic lines of inquiry are pursued with each person interviewed (Patton, 2002, p. 343). The same interview guide was used in both FGD, this ensured that data was collected on same lines from both the groups and with the researcher moderating the discussion, it was made sure that each participant had ample opportunity to express their views on each question of the interview guide. This guarantees both the validity and the reliability of the fieldwork process.

3.6 Limitations of the study

I do not know Norwegian language and this posed as a limitation as all the literature studied during the master's thesis study was limited to the literature available in English. Since, the

study was conducted in Norway, it would have been beneficial for the study if the literature in Norwegian was also reviewed.

The study had aimed to recruit three teachers for each of the two focus group discussions. However, owing to factors such as a smaller number of Norwegian teachers in school compared to mother tongue teachers, inability of some teachers to express themselves on matters such as sustainable development in English, the challenges posed by the pandemic, and the short span of master's research period; there were two participants in the Norwegian teacher's group instead of three as previously planned. In the bilingual teachers group as mentioned before, it was possible to recruit three teachers for the focus group discussion.

The limitation of FGDs is that it needs to consider "possible problems of group effects" (Bryman, 2016, p. 522). This was accomplished by offering everyone in the group, the opportunity to talk in the discussion on various aspects of the research topic. According to Lunt and Livingstone (1996) generalizations cannot be made from FGD data as the sample sizes are small. The results of the present study cannot be generalized owing to its small sample size.

3.7 Benefits of the study

The present study provides a social innovation that can be implemented in the community by promoting mother tongue education and this can foster biocultural diversity in society. This could also address environmental issues such as climate change which are generally limited to the field of science and technology. The important point is that while the scientists and technologists tackle this issue through their ways, if there are means in social science to mitigate climate change and foster biodiversity, humanity must exploit them. Further, first time in the history, humankind has witnessed such a widespread mobility of various racial, cultural, ethnic, religious and linguistic groups and across nation states or posed such challenging issues concerning citizenship, human rights, democracy and education (Banks, 2008). Thus, the study offers another academic approach on the topic from the humanities angle. As such, the present study also could potentially promote academic freedom and democracy in social institutions such as schools. Research is defined as "Any creative systematic activity undertaken in order to increase the stock of knowledge,

including knowledge of man, culture and society, and the use of this knowledge to devise new applications" (OECD, 2003). Conducting this empirical study will definitely add to the existing knowledge of man, culture and society and can particularly be employed to foster academic freedom and democracy in social institutions such as schools as it may induce policy changes in curriculum for the newly arrived minority language pupils so that they are at par with their peers without the pressure to switch to a new language and have a smooth transition from mother tongue to their new language without any subtractive learning.

In summary, I have described the informant recruitment process based on purposive and convenience sampling and the profile of the informants. I have described FGD method that was used for collecting data as this method is known to bring out the perspectives of participants in depth and it also widened the horizon of data as two separate groups of data could be collected on the same research topic from the two categories of the target population (basic Norwegian teachers and the bilingual teachers). I have portrayed my role as the researcher and the challenges I faced during the study particularly due to the Covid-19 pandemic. I have specified the transcription process and the coding system that I used in analyzing the data and the reliability and validity of the collected data. I also have illustrated the ethical considerations of the present study particularly that I do not know Norwegian well enough to conduct FGD in Norwegian or read literature in Norwegian. The next chapter is on research topic are presented with an aim to analyze the same in order to answer the main research question of this study.

4 Research Findings from Focus Group Discussion

This chapter focuses on the perspectives of bilingual teachers and teachers teaching basic Norwegian on the topics of sustainable development and biocultural diversity. The coding process involved a thorough engagement with the founding theoretical concepts and the empirical data in order to categorize and identify the final themes under which all the data will be interpreted. Seven themes derived from the theoretical framework are presented as follows:

- 1. Sustainable development
- 2. Importance of language in teaching sustainable development
- 3. Importance of mother tongue
- 4. Climate change
- 5. Diversity, language and culture
- 6. Connection with nature
- 7. Biocultural diversity

4.1 Sustainable development

Sustainable development is a theme that has been included in the Knowledge Promotion curriculum (Kunnskapsløftet, 2020) as a pluridisciplinary theme reflecting the significance accorded to it by the curriculum makers. The effective implementation of this theme through curriculum can potentially bring changes in society to fight environmental threats such as climate change and decline in biodiversity. The FGD was designed in order to gather data on the significance of SD, its inclusion in Knowledge Promotion curriculum and how it is incorporated in lessons by the Norwegian teachers and the bilingual teachers.

4.1.1 Significance of sustainable development

The findings in this section of the study explored and discussed the informant's meaning of sustainable development and their thoughts on significance of teaching SD. It was agreed in both the groups that SD theme was of high significance.

All the informants had a clear understanding of SD and each one of them articulated it in their own unique way but there were some similarities in their expressions. In explaining their understanding of SD, informants in both the BT and the NO-T groups expressed their

concern for future generations. They discussed how our unsustainable lifestyle choices could impact the quality of life of our children and it was our responsibility to keep the planet in a livable condition. In the BT group, Audrey said "So just not to think about this generation but about future generations". Likewise, Molly in the NO-T group responded "It's about the choices that will affect our future generations".

All the BT teachers elaborated on how our indiscriminate use of resources could deteriorate the quality of life in future. Furthermore, they emphasized on the significance of judicious use of renewable resources. Kylie shared "If we continue to do what we are doing, then the planet's resources are not going to be able to sustain". "The resources that we use, they should be sustainable, they should be renewable," said Audrey.

In the course of FGD, BT emphasized on keeping the planet safe. This was reflected from their remarks "It's like keeping a planet and the entire ecosystem in a condition that is usable" said (Chloe). "We should not reach development at the expense of ruining the planet" stated Audrey.

Discussions about SD in both the focus groups was much intriguing but it's important to point out that the informants in the NO-T group quoted "UDIR" while talking about SD. On the contrary, "UDIR" was not mentioned in the BT group.

I think to me, from a private perspective I have thought mostly about environmental changes but when it comes to UDIR, sustainable development is not only about nature and environmental changes but also about economic changes and development, culture and preserving our cultures and languagesI think there is a lot of things that you can dive into. (Hazel)

"As per UDIR, as a teacher, you have to integrate this theme into all subjects" added Molly. This leads to the next point; how sustainable development is dealt with in the curriculum from the informants' points of view.

4.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum

The informants in both the NO-T and the BT group acknowledged the fact that SD is not a topic in mother tongue curriculum, but it is a topic in the basic Norwegian curriculum.

The informants in the BT group discussed that they were primarily meant to offer MT support to the pupils. The lack of SD in their curriculum and the inclusion of SD in the basic Norwegian curriculum came up many times during FGD. For instance, Kylie shared "But we don't necessarily have sustainable development a subject as such" and Audrey stated: "We do not have it as a topic".

When discussing the role of language in SD teaching, both Kylie and Chloe in the BT group felt that it was quite likely that the Norwegian pupils were more aware of the SD concepts than their newly arrived immigrant counterparts. Some responses reflecting this were, "It's possible that the Norwegian pupils know more about it as they have this topic on *bærekraft utvikling* (SD)" (Kylie), "So, maybe in Norwegian its emphasized more" (Chloe).

It was interesting to see that although SD was not in the BT curriculum, BT reported that they had discussed SD some times while providing MT support to pupils in the regular school. This was evident as they cited many examples (presented in 4.1.3) from their MT support teaching experience.

The discussion in the NO-T group highlighted the importance of inclusion of SD in the curriculum. Hazel shared "It's important that you have this politically included in the curriculum here".

On the other hand, the informants in the NO-T group emphasized that the theme SD in the Norwegian curriculum required BT support. NO-T stressed with certitude that BT support was essential in teaching about SD as it was a theme that needs rich vocabulary in order to grasp the *big* words of SD. This was reflected from their responses "Because it's a such a difficult subject to discuss, it should be in BT curriculum because you would need the bilingual teachers to actually help students understand the words" said Hazel and "It would be a big help," said Molly. The NO-T group also reflected on the possible reasons for the lack of SD in BT curriculum. Molly said "Their (BT) focus is on the mother tongue and helping them (pupils) to understand concepts in Norwegian, maybe that's why" (Molly). Another perspective to lack of SD in MT curriculum was stated by Hazel: "I think the curriculum should be same for all the pupils".

The similarity in NO-T and BT groups was that the informants in both the groups emphasized on the importance of having a rich vocabulary for learning about SD. The BT teachers shared

that having SD in the Norwegian curriculum was good but for it to be effectively taught, the power of having a rich vocabulary could not be ignored irrespective of the language whether it was Norwegian or mother tongue. Some of the responses that were generated here were, "It will be interesting to know how many pupils are aware of the term *bærekraft utvikling*" (Kylie). Likewise, an informant in the NO-T group responded: "The students in grade 7 are not aware of "sustainable development" not in Norwegian" (Hazel). The NO-T teachers explained that in the language school, the focus was foremost on learning Norwegian. "When I look at the topics, I would say that sustainable development is not the first thing that we teach here at the language school" (Hazel).

When the informants were asked about their views on the pluridisciplinary characteristic of SD, informants of both the groups discussed that this contributed significantly towards gaining a holistic understanding of SD. It is important to note again that the NO-T group had acknowledged that they were not teaching about SD explicitly and the BT did not have SD as a theme in their curriculum. More specifically, in the BT group it was discussed that although SD was not a theme in their curriculum, they were still contributing to it when providing MT support in the regular schools. Reflecting on the pluridisciplinarity of SD, Audrey shared, "It's a theme that runs across many subjects it keeps popping up all the time". In the NO-T group it was discussed that the pluridisciplinary nature of SD ensured that every teacher irrespective of their subject was involved in teaching SD and the teachers had the liberty to teach it in their own way. Hazel stated, "It's more up to each teacher how much they want to do, and I think it's up to each teacher how much knowledge they put into it.... when it's in the curricula its every teacher's responsibility to teach about it".

One of the informants in BT shared that the pluridisciplinarity of SD ensured a comprehensive understanding of SD. "This way you get a thorough understanding of what sustainable development is and why it's important," stated Audrey. This was underlined also by another informant in this group,

Students are able to understand better this way when it comes up in different subjects in different ways...you can see it from different point of views, from the point of view of historical development, from the point of view of technological development, point of view of ecological development... what an impact it makes on the planet and on us all. (Chloe).

One of the NO-T informants also highlighted that the importance of SD lays in its pluridisciplinary feature: "I think this is why you have sustainable development as a major topicand to include it in every subject, not just for social science or science subjects" (Hazel).

4.1.3 Incorporating the concept of sustainable development in teaching

During the BT discussions, the teachers shared their experiences of teaching SD. It is important to note here that these examples were cited from when they were providing MT support to pupils in the regular schools "I remember while discussing sources of energy in science class we discussed switching from coal to more sustainable ways" cited Audrey. Another informant from the BT group shared the story of a girl who when calculating her carbon footprint was astonished to see the result. "I mean she was really, really taken aback to know that if everybody lived like she did then we would need 3.6 planets to support" (Chloe).

Another BT informant showed that there were ways to teach SD even in the themes for the younger pupils as she cited an example of when she was doing an activity on transport that involved identifying the means of transport from Norway to Beijing to see Olympics and that one could take a flight to save time "But I made them understand that train is a better option." (Kylie). Regarding examples from the daily life, Audrey stated "Explaining to them about the significance of søppel sortering, sorting garbage we can actually show them what happens when we don't do that, for example, I have shown my students pictures of those islands of rubbish in the ocean".

The informants in the NO-T group on the other hand stated that they were not teaching SD in a direct way due to the limitations of time. However, Hazel cited two examples of incorporating SD in regular teaching,

We had made paper once, where we actually learned about recycling but that's few years ago, when we had more time A few years ago, we had a group of students who had developed fluency in Norwegian and we did read articles from the UN about the environmental changes with them (Hazel).

It is important to note here that these examples from the NO-T were from *few years ago* when the pupils could be in the language school for a longer period.

It thus is interesting to observe that in the BT focus group the informants cited many examples regarding teaching SD concepts. The paradox here is that SD is not a part of BT curriculum. On the other hand, while it's in the NO-T curriculum the limitation of time posed as a challenge as the NO-T group shared a couple of examples from prior years when they had more time with the newly arrived minority pupils.

4.2 Importance of language in teaching sustainable development

In both, NO-T and BT groups, the teachers emphasized on attaining competency in language as an essential skill for understanding SD. In the BT group the teachers discussed that language was critical to gain an understanding of the concept being taught as both teaching and learning relied on language. They emphasized that a rich vocabulary was essential to gain a thorough understanding of SD.

Language is critical in learning concepts especially the ones like sustainable development where you have so many new words and those words are big words for the pupils... so you need words to understand the concepts and to express yourself...unless you have a sound knowledge of language, it's not easy. (Chloe)

NO-T shared that at the language school the pupils are beginning to learn a new language which was foreign to them and expressed how the lack of language skills posed as a challenge in teaching. Molly said, "Very difficult for us to discuss with our students because of their little vocabulary". "We never really go to get deeply into any discussions" added Hazel. They then discussed that teaching SD was possible at an advance stage of language learning. NO-T discussed that sometimes absence of a common language between the pupils (and teachers) and the lack of words in Norwegian (since they are learning) acted as an obstacle towards discussing the concept of SD. Hazel stated, "We can't teach SD because then they don't have a common language, they will have to try to do it in Norwegian and then say it in simple words that everyone could understand".

Molly confirmed that: "It comes back to the point that you need to be strong in language then you learn fast, express better".

Fluency in Norwegian was another factor that was discussed in both groups

"I do see it as a challenge...... as they are beginners in Norwegian" (Hazel). Similar view was expressed in BT "Not many of them speak Norwegian well enough to understand sustainability in Norwegian" (Chloe). In the NO-T group, Hazel explained how the lack of fluency in language affected their expression in talking about such topics as climate change. For instance, with Hazel:

So, they may not have this school understanding of it or reading about it, but they know about it because they know from before. They just don't know the Norwegian words so when you speak to them, you can see that they are like a light bulb going on... ok, I understand what you are talking about, I just don't know the words yet.

It can be said that both NO-T and BT highlighted the importance of strong linguistic skills to understand the concept of SD and this applied to both Norwegian as well as the mother tongue.

4.3 Significance of mother tongue

The significance of mother tongue was emphasized in both BT as well as in the NO-T group. Furthermore, discussion in both the groups was on similar lines of thoughts. During the FGD, the teachers reiterated that their objective was to support the pupils in learning Norwegian but all of them explained how important it was to have a mother tongue, be fluent in it and how the lack of it holds back the pupils in learning new language at school. Kylie shared "It's important to keep the mother tongue going as well".

The BT discussed at length about their role of being mother tongue support to pupils in gaining understanding of complex topics such as SD. Kylie stated, "If they have a new topic coming up, then we always do brain storming in the mother tongue to activate background knowledge". Chloe shared, "We have to come in and help them with the words and expressions in the texts". Audrey said, "With the mother tongue support … they understand the topic".

Another similarity in both the FG regarding MT was that the informants said that BT acted as a platform where the pupils could express themselves freely. Audrey shared, "Sometimes, they cannot express in Norwegian, what they can say in their mother tongue". Molly stated,

"To be able to express in your mother language is important...they express better". One of the informants in the BT group elaborated on this,

It is also very important to give them a chance to express their thoughts to think freely without thinking of, well, I don't have enough words to explain that. So, to push the thought process in the direction of the topic being taught we need mother tongue. (Audrey)

The two focus groups were also similar in discussing the importance of English perhaps it was a common language. The NO-T discussed how sometimes they would use English to supplement Norwegian in class. Hazel shared, "You could use English as help to bridge if there were words they didn't understand". The BT expressed the role of English in a different way as they clarified that the English group had pupils not just from English native speaking countries but from other countries as well. Chloe said, "For example the English group is a special group". They discussed that this group was particularly challenging as the pupils were at different levels of English on account of English not being the mother tongue of everyone in that group.

Likewise, a NO-T shared

And for those students who have different languages, imagine the difference when they have to express something in English to make it easy for us to understand, it's not the same thing, it does not have the same meaning even. So, to be able to express in your mother language is important. (Molly)

The BT discussed that it was not necessary that pupil's mother tongue had all the words, "There are certain things, certain vocabulary they don't have in their mother tongue, then maybe" (Kylie). She further added, "Because, it's not the vocabulary they talk around the dinner table, they might not talk about sustainability".

Another aspect of mother tongue that was highlighted only in BT was that sometimes the lack of fluency in any one language could hold them back in learning. Chloe shared, "We actually have kids who don't have a mother tongue". "When you don't have a mother tongue, you don't have enough vocabulary in any language, we see this quite often" added Audrey.

4.4 The topic of climate change

There was a striking contrast between the two FG with regard to the topic of climate change. The term climate change was quoted many times by NO-T during the discussion. For instance, "That's climate change" (Hazel), "affecting climate" (Molly), "They come from war or they come from climate changes" (Hazel).

On the other hand, although the discussions in the BT group in general were highly intriguing as the informants passionately talked about the various aspects of SD and cited many examples of it, but surprisingly climate change was not mentioned anywhere during the discussion.

More specifically, in the NO-T, the notion of climate change kept appearing while the informants were talking about other aspects of the present study such as SD and mother tongue. Furthermore, the informants in the NO-T focus group expressed concern regarding lack of fluency in Norwegian language being a factor in limiting their discussion about climate change with their pupils. For instance, "If we work on articles about climate change, its's very seldom that we would have the chance to really discuss something that they would understand" (Molly). Hazel said, "Some of them very conscious about climate change discussed for instance, climate change is a politics, but then it was not easy for every single student in class to understand". The example from Hazel was from prior years when pupils could be in language school for a longer period and a group of pupils in class had developed fluency in Norwegian. As the discussion in the NO-T progressed, it was discussed that policy changes with respect to the time pupils spent in the language school had affected discussions on SD topic like climate change. "A few years ago, we discussed the effects of climate change for instance, how all the bees are disappearing" (Hazel). "We do have weather as a topic, but we don't have enough time to explain about climate change which is a very relevant topic from the perspective of sustainable development" (Molly).

It was expressed by the informants in the NO-T group that demonstrations against climate change in various parts of the world have shown that young people could learn, participate and take action against climate change. They emphasized that the potential role of students in tackling issues such as climate change could not be underestimated. Molly stated, "It matters and to have a voice and to have a say in this". Hazel added "It shows that a lot of

students are interested in this topic and they are interested in being heard". This discussion revealed that the potential role of students in climate change can be nurtured by educating them about these issues and supporting them in expressing themselves by empowering them with language skills. Molly shared, "But you need language to express and talk about these issues".

4.5 Diversity, languages, and cultures

The concept of diversity was spread throughout the FGD in both the BT and NO-T groups. The notion of diversity was expressed in relation to both diversity in nature as well as in school and in society at large. The informants discussed the diversity in nature in terms of geography, flora and fauna. In the NO-T focus group both the informants talked about the diversity in the language school. Hazel stated, "What the language school is good at is that we are a very diverse group of teachers". "The pupils come from different school backgrounds, different mother tongues" added Molly.

In the BT group they shared similar points of view on diversity. The teachers also brought up the notion of diversity from a wider perspective; "If you think about multiculturalism, there are lot of minorities in Norway," said Chloe. Kylie added, "The pupils come from so many different backgrounds".

The informants in both the FG thus appreciated the linguistic and cultural diversity in classrooms. They explained how the pupils had the opportunity to learn about different cultures through their day today interactions with their fellow pupils.

More specifically, the NO-T group shared how they try to bring together pupils from different cultures. They shared that they connected pupils with each other by giving them opportunities during the lessons to share knowledge about their culture, language and country.

We try to do a lot of activities where the students can show their own language and culture as long as they can express in Norwegian and that they can also share something from their own language and that the other students can also see what their language looks like, their alphabet, talk about their country, they can show an object from their own country, that's a way of getting to know different cultures as well. (Hazel)

In the BT focus group one of the informants discussed the effects of migration on developing diverse linguistic skills as the children had parents that spoke different languages and the children learnt more languages when they migrated. The informants discussed the vastness of linguistic diversity they witness in their work life and how this was adding to the diversity in society. "So, I think it's amazing how they contribute to diversity in the society", Chloe concluded.

The NO-T group made similar remarks on the aspect of diversity. "If we are talking about language and culture that's something, we work on to preserve, that's something that we work on every day" (Hazel). Highlighting the link between language and culture Hazel elaborated, "Language helps you to learn about the surrounding environment, especially when its new and you are coming from a different culture. I would say, learning language also means you are learning and absorbing culture."

Molly added that "Well, you can say, they learn *dugnad* as a new word but it is not just a word, it's a culture to keep the environment clean ... for everyone to enjoy nature".

The teachers appreciated the diversity in classrooms, the importance of linguistic and cultural diversity and what they as teachers were doing to foster it.

4.6 Connection with nature

When the informants were asked about the words related to nature that come up in their interactions with pupils when teaching SD, the teachers in both the FG came up with a wide spectrum of words such as fjords, landscapes, rivers, forest, snow, water, farm animals, pet animals, flowers, herbs, endangered species, migratory birds (in the local and national context), seasons etc.

However, in the NO-T group one informant reiterated that in the language school they did not teach about SD explicitly and both the informants shared that the 11 themes they teach in basic Norwegian does add to the vocabulary of the pupils. Hazel said, "I do think that we do teach them a lot of words, we don't really use the words sustainable development". The informants also discussed that the pupils that they teach in the language school were mostly at the beginner level of learning Norwegian and as soon as they acquire enough skills to

follow regular teaching, they move to the regular schools. "When they are ready in basic Norwegian, they leave the language school", shared Molly.

The teachers in both the FG pointed out that connection with nature was an important characteristic of the Norwegian culture e.g., "This sort of pride in the local environment," said Kylie. The groups resonated with the notion that taking care of nature is taught at a young age in Norway and this could enable children to shoulder the responsibility for environment. Audrey shared, "In Norway they make it a point to educate children at a very early age on how to treat nature". "Here the children are educated from a young age to clean up the litter for example", added Kylie.

In both the FG, there were utterances of dugnad and the informants discussed the significance and impact of dugnad. They discussed how dugnad was a culture in Norway and everyone in the school participated in dugnad but it's a new concept for the newly arrived pupils.

The informants in the NO-T group discussed how everyone should shoulder the responsibility of taking care of nature from a young age "Appreciate nature.... you can find a forest nearby and take a walk and if everyone picks the garbage treats it that way....in order to be able to enjoy nature, you have to be responsible too", shared Molly.

The discussions with teachers revealed that teaching SD to the newly arrived pupils was limited because of their limited linguistic skills but language could be powerful tool in connecting with nature.

4.7 Biocultural diversity

When the informants were asked if they knew about the concept of biocultural diversity, informants of both the FG acknowledged that they were hearing the term 'biocultural diversity' for the first time. Some of the responses that were generated on hearing BCD were, "I don't know what that means," said Audrey. Molly stated, "I am hearing it for the first time, I think".

I observed that informants in both the groups were curious to know about it as Kylie asked, "what does it mean actually". Likewise, Hazel asked, "So, what is it about"

After I explained the definition and concept of BCD, they were pleasantly surprised. Some of the responses were "Wow" (Kylie), "That's amazing" (Audrey), "It's a very new thing for me" (Chloe), "It's so interesting" (Molly).

Further discussion on BCD revealed that the informants were familiar with the founding notions of BCD such as diversity, biodiversity, and cultural diversity. Chloe responded, "It's more biodiversity that I have heard of, the diversity in nature". "And cultural diversity but not together" added Audrey. Furthermore, they asked me questions about it to confirm their understanding of this term reflecting their interest in this concept. "Is it the linguistic, biological, economical too?" asked Molly. "But it is also about human cultures, languages, not just animals, birds and other species?", clarified Hazel. As the discussion on BCD progressed, the teachers reflected on if they had been doing something regarding BCD. Kylie said that BT through mother tongue teaching, were perhaps taking a step forward in preserving BCD. She further stated how *morsmålsdagen*, mother tongue day was celebrated throughout the schools at local level to raise awareness about the minority languages.

We are already trying to keep their mother tongues alive and if that contributes to the environment then we are multiplying the benefits of mother tongue.... then obviously, we are helping the environment. I am glad that we are contributing to the environment. (Kylie)

The informants were then asked if they would want to include BCD in the curriculum. The NO-T explained that it was important for pupils to have awareness of the novel concept of BCD and expressed their willingness to have it in the curriculum especially when it could help with the global issues like climate change. "If we as teachers can help with that, that's great," said Hazel.

It will not only protect environment but also cultures and languages and I think that for us the language teachers, we are very interested in that side of it and I am not saying that we shouldn't teach about environmental changes and the nature but I think we should focus just as much as language preservation. (Molly)

However, they inferred from the discussion that in order for it to be really effective it should be thoughtfully included in the curriculum so that it does not become a burden to teach

BCD. Hazel said, "So, it doesn't feel like a workload on others, but it is more integrated." (Hazel)

To sum up, the findings reflect the meanings ascribed to SD along with the significance accorded to it in the curriculum and the ways in which the teachers incorporate the concept of SD in their lessons. Similarities and differences in the perspectives of NO-T and BT on the research topic are elucidated. The findings suggest that language especially strengthening of mother tongue can play a significant role in protecting environment. The findings reflect the overlaps in language and culture and the chapter also depicts the link between language, culture, nature that can be invoked through SD teaching and could be used for educating pupils about global environmental issues like climate change. The findings further demonstrate how the intertwined concepts of language, culture and SD can be used for promoting BCD. The next chapter on discussion draws inferences on the aforementioned research findings in the light of research questions, theory and related literature.

5 Discussion – Benefitting from linguistic diversity

The core research question of the thesis will be answered here: *How do teachers incorporate the concept of sustainable development when teaching basic Norwegian and mother tongue/bilingual to newly arrived minority pupils?*

This chapter will comprise of interpretation and discussion on bilingual teachers and Norwegian teachers' perspectives about the potential role of languages especially the mother tongue in teaching SD to newly arrived minority language pupils thereby fostering biocultural diversity and fighting climate change. The interpretation process as a whole will be done such that I will discuss my dialectical findings against the theoretical framework (Chapter 2). The seven themes presented in Chapter 4 will be my goal to delve as deeply as possible into comparing NO-T and BT experiences of teaching SD to newly arrived minority language pupils in Norway.

5.1 Sustainable Development- A crucial focus in all curricula for minority pupils

The purpose of generating knowledge about sustainable development was to discover the role of languages particularly mother tongue in teaching the theme of SD which is very important from environmental perspective.

5.1.1 Significance of sustainable development education

The empirical findings reveal the adverse effects of the difference in the basic Norwegian curriculum and the mother tongue curriculum with respect to inclusion of SD and how SD teaching can be made more effective by providing MT support to the pupils. The concerns expressed by both NO-T and BT regarding future generations, keeping the planet habitable and judicious use of resources while defining SD reflect its high significance and the urgent need to take action against the anthropogenic changes that are threatening human life. From the theory chapter, we became aware that increased production using non-renewable resources can boost economic growth but it results in severe consequences such as climate change (Maes & Jacobs, 2015) and biodiversity loss (Maes & Jacobs, 2015; Rockström et al.,2009). It is therefore important to find sustainable ways of living and create awareness regarding the same among the masses. Frantz and Mayer (2014) thus advocated educating people about the consequences of their choices and lifestyle on the environment to bring about necessary changes in political and economic systems to fight the present

environmental crisis. Furthermore, children can be competent social actors and can play a crucial role in advocating SD and its implementation (Eriksen, 2013). Education about SD thus provides opportunities to young people to participate in solving ecological issues in their communities (Scheie & Stromholt, 2019).

SD in curriculum was discussed in the FG from various angles such as its inclusion in the basic Norwegian curriculum but not in the MT curriculum, its effectiveness depending on linguistic skills of pupils, and pluridisciplinary characteristic of SD in curriculum.

5.1.2 Sustainable development in the curriculum

There were significant differences between the NO-T and BT discussions regarding inclusion of SD as a theme in the Knowledge Promotion curriculum 2020. An important observation here was of NO-T mentioning 'UDIR' while the BT not mentioning 'UDIR' during discussion on various aspects of SD. Findings clearly indicate that the difference between the two curricula was spoken at length in the NO-T group but it *came up* during the discussion in the BT group. This could be attributed to the fact, while SD has become an integral part of the basic Norwegian curriculum (UDIR, 2020a) it was not included in mother tongue curriculum (UDIR, 2020b). Further, the NO-T emphasized that SD being an important theme should be included in the MT curriculum as well.

Moreover, in Norway as per UDIR (2020a), sustainable development is to be covered in all the subjects making it pluridisciplinary. The NO-T and BT groups had similar views on the pluridisciplinary characteristic of SD and that it could have a strong positive influence on facilitating education about SD as it then becomes a part of every subject and thereby the responsibility of every teacher. However, in the light of the findings it can be argued that the pluridisciplinary feature of SD has not been implemented in a holistic way as mother tongue has been left out of it. Notably and very unfortunately, MT curriculum is the only exception to the subjects that are supposed to cover SD. As SD is considered to be a key perspective in all the subjects, why is it not included in MT curriculum? Does it have to do with its weakened position as a whole?

Interestingly, two teachers in the BT group stated the possibility of Norwegian pupils having more knowledge about SD than the newly arrived pupils. This seems true as SD is taught from primary through high school in Norway and the pupils following Norwegian curriculum

would have accumulated wealth of knowledge regarding SD by the time, they graduate high school. However, this would not be the case with the minority pupils as they come from places of school system different from the Norwegian system in terms of curriculum, languages, and cultures. So, it's likely that they might not have studied about sustainable development before coming to Norway and the lack of SD in MT curriculum implies that they might not acquire enough knowledge about SD when studying in Norway.

It was important, however, to observe that although the BT did not have SD in curriculum, they cited many examples of teaching SD which was because BT provided MT support in regular schools in addition to the language school. This highlights SD teaching being accomplished in a holistic manner in the Norwegian curriculum but learning of SD for the newly arrived minority language pupils is largely limited by its lack in curriculum and the limited MT support they get. Further, as one of the teachers (Hazel) mentioned in the FGD that some of the pupils who are studying at the language school sometimes have not been to school before or might have had a large gap in the knowledge due to irregular schooling on account of situations like war, forced migrations etc. The wide difference in academic competence of newly arrived minority language pupils studying in same grade levels has been reported by Norozi (2019). Therefore, SD education for these pupils is highly important to fill the gaps in knowledge and bringing them at par with their Norwegian peers.

The various examples cited by the BT during FGD underpin the pluridisciplinary feature of SD. My question here is that when bilingual teachers are expected to provide mother tongue support to minority pupils in order to follow the standard curriculum when attending regular school, would it not be beneficial that they have this theme included in their curriculum so that MT pupils do not lag behind in gaining knowledge about SD? This reflects a lacuna in the system as SD is not included in the MT curriculum depriving the newly arrived minority language pupils of the opportunities to learn about SD. Further, these pupils need mother tongue teaching to support their learning. Özerk (2013) reported that the lack of suitable multilingual educational policies and teaching programs that meet the need of diverse linguistic groups could lead to a gap in the achievement level of native Norwegian speakers and language minority speakers.

One teacher in the NO-T group (Hazel) also advocated for the inclusion of SD in BT curriculum from the point of view of social justice. The lack of SD education for the minority

language pupils makes me believe that the objective of equality in education is not met here which as described by Özerk and Kerchner (2014) is one of the two foundation stones of Norwegian public education policy, the other being equity. In a broader context, Özerk and Kerchner (2014) stated that as per the Norwegian educational policy special needs of minority pupils are considered in order to equip them to take up higher education and employment. My argument here is that considering the significance of SD today and in the future ahead immigrant pupils should not be deprived of SD education as it could enable them to be as equipped with knowledge and skills as their Norwegian peers which is important from not only the social justice perspective but also when they become adults, they would be able to contribute effectively to the society.

It can be inferred from the findings that if SD was to be included in the MT curriculum just like its included in the basic Norwegian curriculum, the minority language pupils could have gained SD education and the MT support could have made SD education for these pupils more effective.

5.1.3 Importance of linguistic skills in learning sustainable development

The teachers elaborated on the significant role of language in grasping academic concepts and believed that strong linguistic skills and rich vocabulary were essential for learning SD as it is a complex concept. One of the BT informants (Chloe) stated that the lack of fluency in Norwegian could limit the understanding of SD. Similarly, NO-T believed that although SD was a pluridisciplinary theme in the Norwegian curriculum, its effectiveness lays in the linguistic competence of pupils.

Higgen and Mösko (2020) stated that lack of proficiency in the destination language was an obstacle for immigrant pupils as it caused learning difficulties, affected their participation in class and socialization with peers. Heller (2019) discussed the pressure of learning a second language skills on pupils who have not yet attained academic proficiency in second language.

The basic Norwegian curriculum (UDIR, 2020a) focusses on skills and knowledge reflecting that the purpose of learning is steered in the direction of competence development. I argue that lack of support for developing linguistic skills would impact the competence of the newly arrived minority language pupils. It has also been highlighted in the findings that

understanding the concepts of SD is a challenge not only for the newly arrived pupils but also for the regular Norwegian pupils on account of fluency in language and vocabulary. This strongly indicates that for effective teaching and learning of SD, language competencies must be nurtured.

It was reiterated many times by one of the NO-T (Hazel) that at the language school their priority was to make the pupils learn Norwegian language and because of the constraint of time and the limited vocabulary of these pupils, explicit teaching of SD was not possible. This corroborates with the statement of Lødding (2015) cited in Krulatz et al. (2018) that the prime focus in the classroom is on learning Norwegian as a second language so that pupils get suitably equipped to function in Norwegian society. However, it's important to note here that limitation of this finding cannot be generalized because the language school is different from regular school settings. The focus on teaching Norwegian with the objective of making the pupil ready for regular school are reflective of what is considered to be essential skill and knowledge at the end of the learning period.

The informants discussed that lack of fluency in Norwegian could be supplemented by a language shared by pupils and teachers. One BT teacher (Chloe) expressed that every language was deficient in some words regarding depicting nature, but this deficiency could be complemented by learning another language. Different languages have developed their own vocabularies to convey the differences that are significant to their speakers e.g., the languages spoken in the Sahara Desert would not have many synonyms for snow or reindeer and not many words would be found for depicting different types of camels and sand in the languages of arctic and sub-arctic regions of the world (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003, p. 21).

5.2 Promoting holistic integration of mother tongue

The section explains the significance of mother tongue in teaching sustainable development, the need for strengthening mother tongue teaching in the school system and its role in combatting climate change.

5.2.1 The need for mother tongue in school education

Both BT and NO-T teachers emphasized on the positive influence of mother tongue in education in general and in SD in particular. One of the teachers in BT group (Kylie) explained that brainstorming in MT before a difficult topic helped activate previous

knowledge. Cummins (2007, p. 3) posited that language development can be supported through engaging with pre-existing knowledge of first language. Therefore, mother tongue is an important link between previous knowledge and the new knowledge being acquired. The teachers also expressed the vital role of MT in supporting pupils to express themselves. Studies (e.g., Bøyesen, 2009, p. 45; Thomas & Collier, 2002, p.335) have found out that mother tongue instruction in the initial school stage forms a strong 'bridge' for pupils for the transfer of literacy skills from the already known language/s to a new language and support the learning of second/additional language and academic achievement. Bøyesen (2009, p. 44) advocated keeping the continuity of MT teaching until the child has gained mastery in the second language as MT facilitates concept formation in the learning process. I can relate to the significance of language as a medium of instruction in schools. My mother tongue is Hindi but I started my formal education in a school where the medium of instruction was English. While Hindi was one of the subjects taught in school, all the other teaching took place in English. As a beginner in the English language, it was very hard to comprehend what was being taught. Gradually, I started understanding English but lack of fluency in English would often limit my ability to answer questions in class. In my mind, I knew the answers, but I often did not have enough words in English to express myself. As a pupil, it came to my mind several times that if I had the opportunity to speak in Hindi, I could have answered the questions and even elaborated on them.

The discussions in both the groups revealed that connection with nature was an important characteristic of Norwegian culture that is cultivated in citizens from a young age and it helps preserve the environment.

Further, to explain how mother tongue can help make connections with nature, I can cite example from my own mother tongue, Hindi. To my knowledge in Hindi, there are 11 words for ocean (*sāgara, samudra, saṃndara, pyodhi, vāridhi, sindhu, ratnākar, vārīśa, udadhi, ambudhi, araṇava*), seven words for forest (*jangala, vana, araṇaya, kānana, vipina, atavī, kāntāra*), six words for river (*nadī, saritā, āpaga, taraṃgiṇi, payasvinī, taṭanī*), six words for tree (*peṛa, taru, vrikṣa, drum, pādapa, rūkṣa*), nine words for mountains (*pahāṛa, parvata, girijā, śaēla, naga, girī, bhūdhara, kaṭidhara, achala*), and eight words for water (*pānī, jala, nīra, aṃbu, salila, amrita, toya, udaka*). This a brief account of the number of words in a language that can help an individual build and multiply connections with nature.

It is important to note here that from a human ecological perspective, knowledge does not come from individual brains, but from their relationship with their environment (Wurum, 2003 in Tershy et al., 2015, p.4) and the loss or the introduction of species also affects languages (p. 3) as new concepts are needed. Scholars from different disciplines have reported that reconnecting humans to nature can help fight the environmental crisis (Tam, 2013). Thus, it can be said that continuing education in mother tongue can ease the transition to new language and foster connections with nature.

5.2.2 Mother tongue – a limited learning place in the school system

Here, it is important to have a look at the status of MT teaching in Norway and the wide variation in it. To illustrate, in 2021, a total of 39,725 pupils were reported to be attending additional training in Norwegian language, and only 10374 pupils were receiving both MT instruction and bilingual teaching (SSB, 2021b). These numbers are small considering that 18.5% of population in Norway comprises of immigrants and Norwegian-born to immigrant parents (SSB, 2021a). At the national level, there were 1989 pupils who received only mother tongue teaching and 6655 pupils who received only bilingual education (SSB, 2021b). There also was an astonishing variation in native language training and bilingual education among different regions in Norway. For instance, in Oslo there were only 4 pupils receiving both mother tongue and bilingual teaching whereas in Rogaland there were 230 such pupils (SSB, 2021b). The extent of linguistic diversity in Norwegian schools can be judged from Özerk (2013) as he reported that the linguistic minorities in Norway accounted for about 200 languages. In some schools in Oslo, the capital city of Norway, more than 90% students had their registered first language other than Norwegian and this could imply a wide variety of languages at a particular school (Özerk & Kerchner, 2014). Similarly, a wide variation in MT/BT support has been reported by Loona and Wennerholem (2017, p. 318) as percent of students offered MT/BT support in adapted Norwegian was 88-89% in some municipalities on West coast (Bergen) and central Norway (Trondheim) whereas it was only 20% in some municipalities in the eastern region (Oslo and Drammen). Looking at the above figures, it can be implied that mother tongue support is either not being offered or it is not being utilized effectively. A study by Brossard Børhaug and Helleve (2022) revealed the unjust state of bilingual teachers in the Norwegian school system implying that mother tongue teaching has many obstacles to overcome in order for it to be fully integrated. The

above discussion reflects that the mother tongue is an endangered state in the school system in the country.

In order for every child to be educated about sustainable development effectively, good language proficiency is a must which can be attained by supporting child's first language (sections 5.1.3 & 5.2.1). Choice of language instruction was crucial in teaching SD as it could develop the critical thinking skills required for maximum comprehension (Toppo & Rahman, 2020). Skutnabb-Kangas, (2003, p.43) reported that an incorrect medium of instruction in formal education could be one of the causes of depleting linguistic diversity.

Thus, it can be inferred that fluency in mother tongue is an important factor for promoting education in SD. As such, the mother tongue teaching system needs to be strengthened in order to achieve desired results. In today's schools with a non-inclusion of SD in MT curriculum (UDIR, 2020b) and a weakened position of MT in the schooling conditions, indicates a problematic learning setting for SD education as well. The complex notion may not be addressed as it could have been. Furthermore, it indicates that the importance of linguistic and cultural aspect has been neglected contradicting the objective of SD with its interdependent dimensions of language and culture. This also reflects lack of democracy and social justice in educational practice and learning processes. When every child in the school system gets the same opportunities to thrive then only social justice in education can be achieved. Unfortunately, the newly arrived minority language pupils have been overlooked here in the Knowledge Promotion curriculum (Kunnskapsløftet, 2020) affecting the quality of education they receive. This makes holes in the democratic fabric of education and society as when these pupils grow up to be adults, they would be less skilled than their Norwegian counterparts who by then would have acquired a wealth of knowledge regarding sustainable development.

Moreover, with inadequacy in mother tongue education, it is very likely that over the years the pupil's link with their mother tongue would weaken and this could lead to loss in diversity as Pagel and Mace (2014) stated that it was likely that politically, technologically and economically dominant culture could displace weaker culture. The importance of maintaining mother tongue in making connections with nature has been highlighted in section 5.2.1. Furthermore, while mother tongue teaching helps to nurture the connection

with nature, it also plays an important role in the academic success of the minority language pupils.

Education Act (1998, section 2-8) of Norway provides immigrant pupils the right to have bilingual education, and this implies that pupils who have mother tongue other than Norwegian or Sami have the right to additional education in Norwegian until they are skilled enough to follow teaching in mainstream class. The law has a clause, "if considered necessary" implying that it is at the discretion of school to provide mother tongue and bilingual education to the pupil. Brossard Børhaug and Helleve (2022) reported that pupil's residency period is not the deciding factor for getting bilingual education but it's the school administration that decides who gets bilingual education. Norozi (2019) also reported that the Education Act is implemented throughout the country but there is a wide variation in organizing reception classes between municipalities and even between schools in the same municipality as the flexibility of deciding who will get mother and bilingual education rests with the municipality.

Keeping in view the significance of mother tongue education for the newly arrived minority language pupils from the perspectives of linguistic diversity, gaining a comprehensive understanding of SD, academic success, and social justice and democracy, it is highly important to strengthen mother tongue teaching in the school system. If right actions by means of policy changes are not taken in time, it can adversely affect education for SD which will limit the scope of fighting climate change and promoting biocultural diversity (discussed ahead in sections 5.2.3 and 5.3) in the country.

5.2.3 Because climate change is a linguistic, social and cultural phenomenon

As mentioned, immigrants and Norwegians-born to immigrant parents constitute almost one-fifth (18.5%) of total population in Norway (SSB, 2021 a). The effects of such a large presence of immigrants in the society cannot be ignored which implies not only providing them equal opportunities but also empowering the Norwegian society to keep up with the changing demography. Language can play a significant role here by helping them understand each other's culture.

There was similarity in the two FG as the informants appreciated the linguistic and cultural diversity in their classrooms and in the Norwegian society at large. One teacher in the NO-T

(Hazel) shared the ways in which teachers helped pupils learn about each other's language and culture such as sharing about things unique to their country or language. Everything a child brings along from home, including language, religion, culture, ways of being, or clothing, is an expression of the child's identity and the sense of belonging" (Krulatz et al., 2018). Another teacher (Molly) from the same group expressed the power of new words in the second language in learning about another culture. This depicts that teachers find it important that pupils understand each other's culture, and this also implies that the classrooms can be a platform for cultural exchange between the new pupils and their new society. In the BT group, a teacher (Chloe) shared how the process of migration adds to linguistic diversity within a family and the positive influence it exerted on society.

According to O'Brien et al. (2006) climate change can be an obstacle to the important goals of society, worsened inequalities and may affect communities that are trying to cope with the pressures of social, economic and demographic trends. It is highly important to address the human dimensions of climate change and gain an understanding of the ways in which different groups understand climate change issues (Scoville-Simonds, 2018).

Although, there was no explicit question on climate change, its notable that the Norwegian teachers quoted 'climate change' many times during the discussion but climate change was not brought up a single time by the bilingual teachers thereby revealing significant difference between the two groups with regard to climate change. The teachers in NO-T also discussed how the students could be social actors for issues like climate change. The NO-T expressed that lack of pupil's fluency in Norwegian and reduction in allocated teaching hours due to certain policy changes limited the discussion on subjects like climate change. It has been concluded in section 5.1.3 that fluency in language is essential for effective teaching and learning of SD. The reduction in teaching hours for both Norwegian and mother tongue pose as a big obstacle in learning language.

In order to confront the challenges of anthropogenic climate change, languages and conceptualization are some key elements for developing a more appropriate interpretation of climate change and its consequences (Fløttum et al., 2016). The important role of language study in climate change communications has been highlighted (Gjerstad & Fløttum, 2021; Fløttum & Gjerstad, 2017). Climate change is not only a scientific phenomenon but also importantly a linguistic and cultural phenomenon (Fløttum 2017, p.1).

Language plays an important role in climate change as the way it is described in climate communications determines the way people understand climate change (p.1). Culture impacts how the information about climate change influences the way people view the risks associated with climate change (p.4). This association of language and culture with climate change risks described by Fløttum reflects that communications and cultural beliefs are fundamental to the understanding and mitigation of climate change. The cause and effect of climate change thus cannot be delinked from culture (West et al., 2022, p. 28). Therefore, there is a need to address climate change from a strong and sustainable cultural perspective which implies strengthening mother tongue to foster linguistic and cultural diversity in society.

Alexandra (2021) calls for recognizing the ways in which cultures co-generate climate, as it is an important social dimension of climate change stating that "our understanding and experience of the climate is culturally conditioned" (p.63). According to Adger et al. (2013), it is important to understand that if the cultural dimension of climate change is neglected, it will possibly affect both adaptation and mitigation responses as they will not be able to connect to people and communities. West et al. (2022 p. 30) emphasized on the need of transforming educational policies, learning environments and cultures in order to develop democratic societal transformations in the face of climate change.

The discussion on data from FGD and the literature cited above shows that climate change therefore is a culturally embedded threat that can be addressed through nurturing linguistic and cultural diversity. This would require policy changes for strengthening mother tongue teaching, making the mother tongue curriculum holistic as the basic Norwegian curriculum by including the theme of SD.

5.3 Promoting biocultural diversity through newly arrived minority language pupils

The newly arrived minority language pupils bring with them their language and culture which if nurtured, can foster biodiversity in nature. This section explains that providing adequate mother tongue support to the newly arrived minority pupils can promote biocultural diversity.

5.3.1 Biocultural diversity, an emergent and crucial perspective

The concept of biocultural diversity was interestingly new for the informants of both the NO-T and BT groups as they acknowledged hearing first time about BCD from me. This was followed by them relating their preexisting knowledge about linguistic diversity, cultural diversity, and biodiversity. One of the teachers in the BT group was quick to reflect about BCD in her own teaching and was proud to conclude that they were already contributing towards BCD through MT teaching, but they were just not aware of it.

Further, the teachers in both the groups expressed their willingness to have the concept of BCD included in their curriculum as they inferred from the discussion that they were already contributing to it in some ways and BCD teaching had the potential of making a remarkable difference to the environment; it would therefore be beneficial to educate young citizens about it. As mentioned, human diversity is crucial in fostering biodiversity conservation as biodiversity acts as substrate for the evolutionary processes; less diversity in nature implies greater chance that life would be destroyed due to lack of resilience to the environmental change (Cocks, 2006). Thus, there is a need to foster linguistic and cultural diversity.

However, a teacher in the NO-T group emphatically stated that BCD should be included in the curriculum in a way that it did not feel like a burden on the teachers and the pupils alike. It can be said from the above discussion that BCD is not a commonly known concept and it can be addressed through education in order to achieve sustainability. It is important to educate children about BCD as they can be instrumental in bringing societal transformations and they are also future citizens of the country. However, BCD is in its nascent stage in becoming a part of school curriculum. In my course of study, I came across only a few published studies on inclusion of BCD in school curricula. For instance, Terralingua (2014, p.10) demonstrated integration of BCD into school curriculum through a pilot study in two schools in the USA. Cocks et al. (2012) executed a biocultural diversity education project in seven schools in South Africa that was formulated to incorporate cultural values in biodiversity management and they advocated the same to be adopted at the national level. In addition, biodiversity which is a component of biocultural diversity has been introduced in formal education as McRae and Böhn (2022, p.54) quoted biodiversity education examples from NBSAPs (National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans) that are enacted

by Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and reported that education for biodiversity has been included in formal education in Venezuela, Myanmar and the UK.

Batista and Andrade (2021) in their analysis of documents from the Portuguese educational system reported that education for SD was incomplete without the theme of BCD as BCD education is needed for the survival of all species and communities, reestablishing connections with natural as well as social environment, and for a healthy cultural diversity in society. Therefore, in the pursuit of becoming a sustainable country, it is important that Norway includes BCD in its school curricula.

5.3.2 Promoting biocultural diversity and mitigating climate change through bilingual learning

As already stated, research shows that linguistic diversity, cultural diversity and biodiversity are not stand-alone compartments, rather they co-exist (Maffi 2005; Skutnabbs-Kangas et al. 2003, pp. 9-10; Loh & Harmon, 2005). The diversity of ideas carried by different languages and cultures is as much needed as diversity of species and ecosystems for sustaining human life on earth as this diversity gives the maximum possible spectrum of solutions to the challenges of survival (Skutnabb-Kangas, 2003, p. 29). Therefore, international organizations such as UNEP, UNESCO, CBD, the IUCN have shown a high level of recognition for the link between biodiversity and cultural diversity (Hong, 2013).

I argue that learning about sustainable development is important from the point of promoting BCD and combatting climate change. If mother tongue teaching is strengthened in the education system and the concept of sustainable development is taught to every child, their beneficial effects on the environment could multiply several times as the child can gain a holistic understanding of SD and make more connections with nature. This would help check climate change and nurture biocultural diversity as described in sections 5.2.3 and 5.3.1, respectively. BCD can be addressed by including it in the school curricula so that the future citizens of the country acquire this knowledge from a young age.

Moreover, the Education Act (1998) reflects that mother tongue teaching is provided to ease the transition from pupil's mother tongue to Norwegian. However, the Act limits the language training to a maximum of two years. Considering the significance of mother tongue (section 5.2.1) and its role in climate change (section 5.2.3) and biocultural diversity

(section 5.3.1), it is important that the conditionality of Education Act is removed to maximize the benefits of the Education Act for both, the newly arrived minority language pupils and the Norwegian society.

In other words, resilience in the environment can therefore be achieved by nurturing linguistic diversity in society. A practical approach to this is to have extended mother tongue support for newly arrived minority language pupils so that they can maintain connection not only with their mother tongue but also with nature. Further, if the theme of sustainable development is included in the mother tongue curriculum it would equip them with the required knowledge and skills regarding SD and this can go a long way in them becoming environmentally responsible adults. In addition, mother tongue support can bolster SD education as it facilitates academic understanding of the concepts. Since SD is a pluridisciplinary theme introduced from primary school years and lasts until high school, it can help the pupil gain sufficient skills and knowledge that could support in the fight against climate change and loss in biodiversity.

In the aforementioned discussion, it can be said that if we are to achieve the goals of education for SD, we must recognize the significant role of MT education by including SD in MT curriculum; considering its positive effects on climate change and biocultural diversity. Further, inclusion of the theme of SD in MT curriculum will add to the quality life of newly arrived minority language pupils with its effects multiplied to climate change and BCD. In addition, it will nurture democracy and social justice in education.

6 Conclusion

Research has already established the importance of linguistic diversity to foster biocultural diversity but there is a need to find out pragmatic ways of fostering it in today's Norwegian society which is rapidly becoming linguistically and culturally diverse. The Education Act (1998 section 2-8) in Norway enables the minority language pupils to have mother tongue instruction/bilingual teaching but this Act is conditional and the variability in its implementation throughout the country needs to be addressed in order to maximize the benefits of the Education Act for the minority language pupils and for the Norwegian society at large.

Norway has accorded high significance to sustainable development by including it as a pluridisciplinary theme in Knowledge Promotion curriculum 2020 (Kunnskapsløftet, 2020). The thesis highlights that Knowledge Promotion curriculum (2020) when including SD as a theme in the new curriculum overlooked the mother tongue curriculum as it did not include SD as a theme in the MT curriculum (UDIR, 2020b) whereas it is a pluridisciplinary theme in the basic Norwegian curriculum (UDIR, 2020a). This difference in the curriculum puts the minority language pupils at disadvantage as they do not receive SD education thereby defying the Norwegian principles of equity and equality in education.

The study was conducted by having FGD with two groups of teachers teaching the newly arrived minority language pupils namely, the teachers who teach basic Norwegian and the teachers responsible for bilingual learning. The total sample of the study comprised of five teachers. The results indicate that both the groups of teachers emphasized the importance of mother tongue in learning second language (Norwegian). The teachers brought up the notion that teaching and learning sustainable development is important from the environmental perspective but in practice teaching it to children is complex as it requires strong linguistic skills.

Further, the results indicate that mother tongue teaching can be much beneficial in imparting sustainable development education and including the theme of SD in mother tongue curriculum can make SD education more effective. The study also reveals the significance of SD education for young citizens. Prior research has found out that language, culture and biodiversity coexist and are intertwined and a decline in linguistic and/or

cultural diversity can lead to overall decrease in biodiversity (Maffi 2005; Skutnabbs-Kangas et al. 2003, pp. 9-10; Loh & Harmon 2005).

The findings from the thesis suggest that the implementation of the Education Act (1998) needs to be reviewed in order to have a uniform and effective system of mother tongue teaching by extending the scope of mother tongue education. Further, with Norway intending to become a sustainable country, it is highly important to have sustainable development as a theme in the mother tongue curriculum and also strengthen mother tongue teaching in the school system so that each and every child is educated about SD. As minority pupils come from different backgrounds, languages and culture, it is essential for them to have both mother tongue education and sustainable development education to be at par with their Norwegian peers. Strengthening the education system by providing adequate mother tongue support and education for sustainable development to minority language pupils can seam the disparity in education which would be beneficial for the country as these young citizens will grow up to be environmentally responsible adults contributing to country's economic, social, cultural growth and innovations.

There is no denying the fact that as citizens of the country the minority language pupils must learn Norwegian, but their education should not be compromised by depriving them of SD education and weakening their ties with their mother tongue. This is important from the perspective of promoting diversity in society while strengthening the two founding principles of Norwegian system of education, equity and equality. As the schools in Norway are becoming more and more culturally and linguistically diverse, the agenda of equality and equity in education needs to be implemented more effectively.

The study has a few limitations. The literature reviewed for this study is limited to the literature available in English and only English-speaking informants could be recruited in the study. The results of the study cannot be generalized for Norway because of the small sample size of this study. Qualitative nature of the study also limits generalization as views and opinions expressed by the informants of this study and can never be exactly the same as other teachers. Further, the study is relevant only in the Norwegian school context as it is based on the Norwegian Education Act (1998).

66

Decline in biodiversity and climate change are two of the ten most important environmental threats (Sæverot & Torgersen, 2022, p.3). In order to overcome these threats, it is important to develop holistic and sustainable solutions. Mother tongue should be strengthened for making sustainable development education effective and this could immensely contribute towards combatting environmental threats of decrease in biodiversity and climate change. Promoting linguistic diversity and education for sustainable development thus, are the two dimensions from which these threats can be addressed.

There is a need to explore further sustainable ways to address environmental threats from a cultural point of view. For instance, study by Brossard Børhaug (2021) highlight the importance of intercultural education in combatting anthropogenic climate change. A study by Tauro et al. (2021) propose field environment philosophy, a novel educational methodology which utilizes ecotourism practices to reestablish connections between nature and citizens. Innovative educational actions are needed and this thesis is a small attempt to do so.

References

- Adger, W. N., Barnett, J., Brown, K., Marshall, N., & O'Brien, K. (2012). Cultural dimensions of climate change impacts and adaptation. *Nature Climate Change*, 3(2), 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1666
- Alexandra, J. (2021). How Do the Cultural Dimensions of Climate Shape Our Understanding of Climate Change? *Climate*, *9*(4), 63. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cli9040063</u>
- Alisaari, J., Heikkola, L. M., Commins, N., & Acquah, E. O. (2019). Monolingual ideologies confronting multilingual realities. Finnish teachers' beliefs about linguistic diversity. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *80*, 48–58.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.01.003
- Baker, M. (2018). Playing, Talking, Co-constructing: Exemplary Teaching for Young Dual
 Language Learners Across Program Types. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47(1), 115–130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-018-0903-0</u>
- Banks, J. A. (2008). Diversity, Group Identity, and Citizenship Education in a Global Age.
 Educational Researcher, 37(3), 129–139.
 https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x08317501
- Bardal, K. G., Reinar, M. B., Lundberg, A. K., & Bjørkan, M. (2021). Factors Facilitating the Implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals in Regional and Local Planning—Experiences from Norway. *Sustainability*, *13*(8), 4282. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084282
- Batista, B. F., & Andrade, A. I. (2021). Educating for Biocultural Diversity and Sustainable Development in First Years of Schooling: An Analysis of Documents from the Portuguese Educational System. *Frontiers in Education*, *6*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.652196
- Benson, C. (2004). *The importance of mother tongue-based schooling for educational quality*. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000146632
- Boateng, W. (2012). Evaluating the Efficacy of Focus Group Discussion (FGD) in Qualitative Social Research. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 54–57.
- Bøyesen, L. (2009). Culture and Language in Education: Tools for Development (I. Skattum,
 Ed.; Norad Report 15/2009 Discussion). Norwegian Agency for Development
 Cooperation.

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa</u>
- Bromhead, H. (2021). Disaster linguistics, climate change semantics and public discourse studies: a semantically-enhanced discourse study of 2011 Queensland Floods. *Language Sciences*, 85, 101381.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.langsci.2021.101381</u>
- Brossard Børhaug, F. (2021). Missing links between intercultural education and anthropogenic climate change? *Intercultural Education*, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14675986.2021.1889984</u>
- Brossard Børhaug, F., & Helleve, I. (2022). Bridges or breaches? A case study on the experiences of inclusion of bilingual teachers. In K. B. Petersen, K. von Bromsson K, G. H. Jacobson, J. Garsdal, M. Paulsen, & O. Koefoed (Eds.), *Rethinking education in light of global challenges. Scandinavian perspectives on culture, society and the anthropocene* (pp. 37–50). Taylor & Francis.
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Buizer, M., Elands, B., & Vierikko, K. (2016). Governing cities reflexively—The biocultural diversity concept as an alternative to ecosystem services. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 62, 7–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2016.03.003</u>
- Butt, N., Epps, K., Overman, H., Iwamura, T., & Fragoso, J. M. (2015). Assessing carbon stocks using indigenous peoples' field measurements in Amazonian Guyana. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 338, 191–199.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.11.014

Castek, J., & Dwyer, B. (2018). Think Globally, Act Locally: Teaching Climate Change Through Digital Inquiry. *The Reading Teacher*, *71*(6), 755–761. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1687

Chomsky, N. (2007). Language and mind. Cambridge University Press.

- Cocks, M. (2006). Biocultural Diversity: Moving Beyond the Realm of 'Indigenous' and 'Local' People. *Human Ecology*, *34*(2), 185–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-006-9013-5</u>
- Cocks, M. L., Alexander, J., & Dold, T. (2012). *Inkcubeko Nendalo*: A Bio-cultural Diversity Schools Education Project in South Africa and its Implications for Inclusive Indigenous Knowledge Systems (IKS) Sustainability. *Journal of Education for*

Sustainable Development, 6(2), 241–252.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0973408212475232

- Collard, I. F., & Foley, R. A. (2002). Latitudinal patterns and environmental determinants of recent human cultural diversity: Do humans follow biogeographical rules? *Evolutionary Ecology Research*, 371–383.
- Cummins, J. (2007). Promoting literacy in multilingual contexts: Research monograph no. 5. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Education.
- Cummins, J. (2001). Bilingual children's mother tongue: Why is it important for education. *Sprogforum*, *19*, 15–20.
- DePalma, A., Kuhlmann, M., Bugter, R., Ferrier, S., Hoskins, A. J., Potts, S. G., Roberts, S. P., Schweiger, O., & Purvis, A. (2017). Dimensions of biodiversity loss: Spatial mismatch in land-use impacts on species, functional and phylogenetic diversity of European bees. *Diversity and Distributions*, 23(12), 1435–1446.

https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12638

- Dunn, C. P. (2017). Biological and cultural diversity in the context of botanic garden conservation strategies. *Plant Diversity*, 39(6), 396–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pld.2017.10.003</u>
- Education Act. (1998). Act relating to Primary and Secondary Education and Training (the Education Act). https://lovdata.no/dokument/NLE/lov/1998-07-17-61
- Elands, B., Vierikko, K., Andersson, E., Fischer, L., Gonçalves, P., Haase, D., Kowarik, I., Luz,
 A., Niemelä, J., Santos-Reis, M., & Wiersum, K. (2019). Biocultural diversity: A novel concept to assess human-nature interrelations, nature conservation and stewardship in cities. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 40, 29–34.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.04.006
- Eriksen, K. G. (2013). Why Education for Sustainable Development Needs Early Childhood Education: The Case of Norway. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, *15*(1), 107–120. https://doi.org/10.2478/jtes-2013-0007
- Ernst, J., & Theimer, S. (2011). Evaluating the effects of environmental education programming on connectedness to nature. *Environmental Education Research*, 17(5), 577–598. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2011.565119</u>
- Farnsworth, J., & Boon, B. (2010). Analysing group dynamics within the focus group. *Qualitative Research*, *10*(5), 605–624. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794110375223</u>

- Fløttum, K. (2017). Language and climate change. In K. Fløttum (Ed.), *The role of language in the climate change and debate* (pp. 1–10). Routledge.
- Fløttum, K., Dahl, T., & Rivenes, V. (2016). Young Norwegians and their views on climate change and the future: findings from a climate concerned and oil-rich nation. *Journal* of Youth Studies, 19(8), 1128–1143.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2016.1145633

- Fløttum, K., & Gjerstad, Y. (2017). Narratives in climate change discourse. *WIREs Climate Change*, 8(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.429</u>
- Frainer, A., Mustonen, T., Hugu, S., Andreeva, T., Arttijeff, E. M., Arttijeff, I. S., Brizoela, F., Coelho-de-Souza, G., Printes, R. B., Prokhorova, E., Sambou, S., Scherer, A., Shadrin, V., & Pecl, G. (2020). Opinion: Cultural and linguistic diversities are underappreciated pillars of biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(43), 26539–26543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2019469117</u>
- Frantz, C. M., & Mayer, F. S. (2014). The importance of connection to nature in assessing environmental education programs. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *41*, 85–89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2013.10.001</u>
- Gavin, M. C., Rangel, T. F., Bowern, C., Colwell, R. K., Kirby, K. R., Botero, C. A., Dunn, M., Dunn, R. R., McCarter, J., Pacheco Coelho, M. T., Gray, R. D., & Hurlbert, A. (2017).
 Process-based modelling shows how climate and demography shape language diversity. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, *26*(5), 584–591.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12563
- Gjerstad, Y., & Fløttum, K. (2021). Climate change lifestyle narratives among Norwegian citizens: A linguistic analysis of survey discourse. *European Policy Analysis*, 7(S2), 386–404. https://doi.org/10.1002/epa2.1122
- Gøranson, I. E., Ochoa, T. A., & Zoeller, K. A. (2020). Strengths, Pitfalls, and Potential in Norway's Approach to Special Education. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 56(5), 273–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451220963088</u>
- Grenoble, L. A. (2011). Language ecology and endangerment [E-book]. In P. K. Austin & J. Sallabank (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of endangered languages* (pp. 27–44). Cambridge University Press.
- Harmon, D. (1996). Losing species, losing languages: Connections between biological and linguistic diversity. *Southwest J. Ling*, 89–108.

- Harmon, D., & Loh, J. (2010). The Index of Linguistic Diversity: A New Quantitative Measure of Trends in the Status of the World's Languages. *Language Documentation and Conservation*, 97–151.
- Harmon, D., Woodley, E., & Loh, J. (2010). Measuring Status and Trends in Biological and Cultural Diversity. In S. Pilgrim & J. N. Pretty (Eds.), *Nature and Culture* (pp. 41–57).
 Routeledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781849776455</u>
- Harrison, K. D. (2008). When Languages Die: The Extinction of the World's Languages and the Erosion of Human Knowledge. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Heller, M. C., Lervåg, A., & Grøver, V. (2019). Oral Language Intervention in Norwegian
 Schools Serving Young Language-Minority Learners: A Randomized Trial. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 54(4), 531–552. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rrg.248</u>
- Hennink, M. M. (2014). *Focus Group Discussions (Understanding Qualitative Research)* (1st ed.) [E-book]. Oxford University Press.
- Higgen, S., & Mösko, M. (2020). Mental health and cultural and linguistic diversity as challenges in school? An interview study on the implications for students and teachers. *PLOS ONE*, 15(7), e0236160.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236160

- Hong, S. K. (2011). Biocultural diversity and traditional ecological knowledge in island regions of Southwestern Korea. *Journal of Ecology and Environment*, *34*(2), 137–147.
 https://doi.org/10.5141/jefb.2011.026
- Hong, S. K. (2013). Biocultural diversity conservation for island and islanders: Necessity, goal and activity. *Journal of Marine and Island Cultures*, 2(2), 102–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imic.2013.11.004</u>
- Huisman, J. L. A., Majid, A., & van Hout, R. (2019). The geographical configuration of a language area influences linguistic diversity. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(6), e0217363.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217363
- Kassam, K. A. (2008). Diversity as if Nature and Culture Matter: Bio-Cultural Diversity and Indigenous Peoples. The International Journal of Diversity in Organizations, Communities, and Nations: Annual Review, 8(2), 87–96.
 https://doi.org/10.18848/1447-9532/cgp/v08i02/39560

- Kim, K. C., & Byrne, L. B. (2006). Biodiversity loss and the taxonomic bottleneck: emerging biodiversity science. *Ecological Research*, 21(6), 794–810. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-006-0035-7</u>
- Kitzinger, J. (1994). The methodology of Focus Groups: the importance of interaction between research participants. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, 16(1), 103–121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.ep11347023</u>
- Krauss, M. (1992). The world's languages in crisis. *Language*, *68*(1), 4–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/lan.1992.0075</u>
- Krulatz, A., Steen-Olsen, T., & Torgersen, E. (2017). Towards critical cultural and linguistic awareness in language classrooms in Norway: Fostering respect for diversity through identity texts. *Language Teaching Research*, 22(5), 552–569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168817718572</u>
- Kunnskapsdepartementet. (2012). Kunnskap for en felles framtid: Revidert strategi for utdanning for baerekraftig utvikling 2012–2015 [Knowledge for a common future: Revised strategy for education for sustainable development 2012–2015]. https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/kd/vedlegg/uh/rapporter_og_plan er/strategi_for_ubu.pdf
- Kunnskapsdepartementet. (2016). En fornyelse av Kunnskapsløftet [A renewal of the knowledge promotion]. https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-st.-28-20152016/id2483955/?ch=1

Kunnskapsløftet. (2020). UDIR. https://www.udir.no/in-english/curricula-in-english/

- Laguarda, A. I., & Woodward, W. P. (2013). They own this: Mother tongue instruction for indigenous Kuku Children in Southern Sudan. *School Psychology International*, 34(4), 453–469. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034312446893
- Legagneux, P., Casajus, N., Cazelles, K., Chevallier, C., Chevrinais, M., Guéry, L., Jacquet, C., Jaffré, M., Naud, M. J., Noisette, F., Ropars, P., Vissault, S., Archambault, P., Bêty, J., Berteaux, D., & Gravel, D. (2018). Our House Is Burning: Discrepancy in Climate Change vs. Biodiversity Coverage in the Media as Compared to Scientific Literature. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2017.00175</u>
- Liefländer, A. K., Fröhlich, G., Bogner, F. X., & Schultz, P. W. (2013). Promoting connectedness with nature through environmental education. *Environmental*

Education Research, 19(3), 370–384.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2012.697545

- Lødding, B. (2015). *Mobilisering for mangfold: Kartlegging av kompetanse i barnehagesektor* og grunnopplæring for barn, unge og voksne i første fase av satsingen Kompetanse for mangfold: Rapport 4/2015 [Mobilization for diversity: Mapping skills in the day care sector and basic education for children, adolescents and adults in the first phase of the initiative 'Skills for diversity': Report 4/2015]. (No. 4). Nordisk Institutt for Studier av Innovasjon, Forskning og Utdanning.Oslo.
- Loh, J., & Harmon, D. (2005). A global index of biocultural diversity. *Ecological Indicators*, 5(3), 231–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2005.02.005</u>
- Loona, S., & Wennerholem, M. (2017). Heritage language education in Norway and Sweden.
 In O. E. Kagan, M. M. Carreira, & C. H. Chik (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook of Heritage Language Education From Innovation to Program Building* (1st ed., pp. 313– 326). Routledge.
- Loureiro, M. L., & Alló, M. (2021). How has the COVID-19 pandemic affected the climate change debate on Twitter? *Environmental Science & Policy*, *124*, 451–460. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.07.011</u>
- Lunt, P., & Livingstone, S. (1996). Rethinking the Focus Group in Media and Communications Research. *Journal of Communication*, *46*(2), 79–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1996.tb01475.x</u>
- Luzar, J. B., Silvius, K. M., Overman, H., Giery, S. T., Read, J. M., & Fragoso, J. M. V. (2011). Large-scale Environmental Monitoring by Indigenous Peoples. *BioScience*, *61*(10), 771–781. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.10.7</u>
- Maes, J., & Jacobs, S. (2015). Nature-Based Solutions for Europe's Sustainable Development. *Conservation Letters*, *10*(1), 121–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12216</u>
- Maffi, L. (2002). Endangered languages, endangered knowledge. *International Social Science Journal*, 54(173), 385–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2451.00390</u>
- Maffi, L. (2005). Linguistic, Cultural and Biological Diversity. *The Annual Review of Anthropology*, 599–617.
- Maffi, L. (2008). Talking Diversity. World Conservation, 38(1), 13–14.
- Maffi, L. (2010). What is biocultural diversity. In L. Maffi & E. Woodley (Eds.), *Biocultural Diversity Conservation: A Global Sourcebook* (1st ed., pp. 3–12). Routledge.

- Maffi, L. (2014). Biocultural diversity: the true web of life. In L. Maffi & O. Dilts (Eds.), Biocultural diversity Toolkit (Vol. 1, pp. 6–16). Terralingua.
 https://terralingua.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Biocultural-Diversity-Toolkit vol-1.pdf
- Maffi, L. (2018). Biocultural Diversity. In H. Callan & S. Coleman (Eds.), *The International Encyclopedia of Anthropology* (p. 1). John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118924396.wbiea1797
- Majzub, R. M., & Rais, M. M. (2011). Perceptions of students and lecturers on the preservation of endangered languages. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 15, 1677–1683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.03.351</u>
- McRae, L., & Böhm, M. (2022). Biodiversity: The decline in biodiversity and how education can be a part of the solution. In H. Sæverot (Ed.), *Meeting the challenges of existential threats through educational innovation. A proposal for an expanded curriculum*. Routledge.
- Melis, C., Wold, P. A., Bjørgen, K., & Moe, B. (2020). Norwegian Kindergarten Children's Knowledge about the Environmental Component of Sustainable Development. Sustainability, 12(19), 8037. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12198037</u>
- Mishra, L. (2016). Focus Group Discussion in Qualitative Research. *TechnoLearn: An International Journal of Educational Technology*, 6(1), 1.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.5958/2249-5223.2016.00001.2</u>
- Moore, J. L., Manne, L., Brooks, T., Burgess, N. D., Davies, R., Rahbek, C., Williams, P., &
 Balmford, A. (2002). The distribution of cultural and biological diversity in Africa.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences, 269(1501), 1645–1653. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2075
- Mullings, B. (1999). Insider or outsider, both or neither: some dilemmas of interviewing in a cross-cultural setting. *Geoforum*, *30*(4), 337–350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0016-7185(99)00025-1</u>
- Munkebye, E., Scheie, E., Gabrielsen, A., Jordet, A., Misund, S., Nergård, T., & Øyehaug, A. B. (2020). Interdisciplinary primary school curriculum units for sustainable development. *Environmental Education Research*, *26*(6), 795–811. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2020.1750568

- Næss, L. O., Bang, G., Eriksen, S., & Vevatne, J. (2005). Institutional adaptation to climate change: Flood responses at the municipal level in Norway. Global Environmental Change, 15(2), 125–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2004.10.003</u>
- NENT, *Føre-var prinsippet: Mellom forskning og politikk* [The precautionary principle: Between research and politics] (NENT publication no. 11, Oslo). (1997).
- Norozi, S. A. (2019). How Do Norwegian Reception Schools Cater to the Academic and Integrational Needs of Newly Arrived Minority Language Pupils: Cases From Two Municipalities. *European Education*, *51*(3), 231–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10564934.2019.1619464</u>
- Nygaard, L. P. (2017). Ethics: Making good choices. In *Writing your Master's Thesis From A to Zen* (pp. 35–48). SAGE Publications.
- NESH The Norwegian National Research Ethics Committee. (2016, June). Guidelines for research ethics in the social sciences, humanities, law and theology. www. etikkom.no
- O'Brien, K., Eriksen, S., Sygna, L., & Naess, L. O. (2006). Questioning Complacency: Climate Change Impacts, Vulnerability, and Adaptation in Norway. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment*, *35*(2), 50–56.
- OECD Glossary of Statistical Terms Research and development UNESCO Definition. (2003, January). Stats.Oecd.Org. https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=2312
- Olsson, D., Gericke, N., & Chang Rundgren, S. N. (2015). The effect of implementation of education for sustainable development in Swedish compulsory schools – assessing pupils' sustainability consciousness. *Environmental Education Research*, 22(2), 176– 202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2015.1005057</u>
- Özerk, K. (2013). The Norwegian Educational System, the Linguistic Diversity in the Country and the Education of Different Minority Groups. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 43–60.
- Özerk, K., & Kerchner, C. T. (2014). Diversity and Educational Challenges in Oslo and Los Angeles - A Metropolitan Perspective nr 2. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 6(3), 441–462.
- Ozerk, K., & Todal, J. (2013). Written language shift among Norwegian youth. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 285–300.

- Özerk, M., & Özerk, K. (2019). Multicultural Settings and School Psychological Services—a Norwegian Experience with Developing Competency in Multicultural Counseling. *Contemporary School Psychology*, 24(4), 349–361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40688-019-00242-3</u>
- Pagel, M., & Mace, R. (2004). The cultural wealth of nations. *Nature*, *428*(6980), 275–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/428275a</u>
- Pauw, J. B., Gericke, N., Olsson, D., & Berglund, T. (2015). The Effectiveness of Education for Sustainable Development. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 15693-15717. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su71115693</u>
- Peters, H. (2017). World Heritage and sustainable development. World: What is sustainability? *Environmental Education*, 19–21.
- Rabiee, F. (2004). Focus-group interview and data analysis. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, *63*(4), 655–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1079/pns2004399</u>
- Rapport, D. J., & Maffi, L. (2010). Eco-cultural health, global health, and sustainability. *Ecological Research*, *26*(6), 1039–1049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-010-0703-5</u>
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, S., Chapin, F. S., Lambin, E. F., Lenton, T. M., Scheffer, M., Folke, C., Schellnhuber, H. J., Nykvist, B., de Wit, C. A., Hughes, T., van der Leeuw, S., Rodhe, H., Sörlin, S., Snyder, P. K., Costanza, R., Svedin, U., . . . Foley, J. A. (2009). A safe operating space for humanity. *Nature*, *461*(7263), 472–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/461472a
- Roe, D. (2019). Biodiversity loss—more than an environmental emergency. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, 3(7), e287–e289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2542-5196(19)30113-5</u>
- Roe, D., Seddon, N., & Elliott, J. (2019). Biodiversity Loss is a Development Issue: A Rapid Review of Evidence. *International Institute for Environment and Development*, 1-24.
- Rumenapp, J. C. (2014). Mother Tongue-Based Multilingual Education. In S. Thompson (Ed.), *The Encyclopedia of Diversity and Social Justice* (pp. 532–533). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Ryen, A. (2016). Research ethics and qualitative research. In D. Silverman (Ed.), *Qualitative Research* (4th ed., pp. 31–48). SAGE Publications.
- Sæverot, H., & Torgersen, G.-H. (2022). Basic constructs in the science of sustainability education. In H. Sæverot (Ed.), *Meeting the challenges of existential threats through educational innovation. A proposal for an expanded curriculum* (p. 1-10). Routledge.

- Scannell, L., & Gifford, R. (2011). Personally Relevant Climate Change. *Environment and Behavior*, 45(1), 60–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916511421196</u>
- Scoville-Simonds, M. (2018). Climate, the Earth, and God Entangled narratives of cultural and climatic change in the Peruvian Andes. *World Development*, *110*, 345–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.06.012</u>
- Skutnabb-Kangas, T. (1998). Human rights and language wrongs—A future for diversity? Language Sciences, 20(1), 5–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0388-0001(97)00008-9</u>
- Skutnabb-Kangas, T., & Harmon, D. (2017). Biological diversity and language diversity: parallels and differences. In H. Penz & A. Fill (Eds.), *Handbook of Ecolinguistics* (p. 11-25). Taylor and Francis.
- Skutnabb-Kangas, T., Maffi, L., & Harmon, D. (2003). Sharing a World of Difference, the Earth's Linguistic, Cultural and Biological Diversity (L. Kinga, Ed.). UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000132384
- Spiropoulou, D., Antonakaki, T., Kontaxaki, S., & Bouras, S. (2007). Primary Teachers' Literacy and Attitudes on Education for Sustainable Development. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *16*(5), 443–450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-007-9061-7</u>
- SSB Statistik SentralByra. (2021a). *Immigrants and Norwegian-born to immigrant parents*. https://www.ssb.no/447802/immigrants-and-norwegian-born-to-immigrantparents-by-country-background.1-january
- SSB Statistik SentralByra. (2021b). *Pupils in primary and lower secondary school*. https://www.ssb.no/en/statbank/table/07523/
- Stepp, J. R., Cervone, S., Castaneda, H., Lasseter, A., Stocks, G., & Gichon, Y. (2004).
 Development of a GIS for global biocultural diversity. *Policy Matters*, 13 (Special Issue), 267–270.
- Stoop, C. (2017). Children's Rights to Mother-Tongue Education in a Multilingual World: A Comparative Analysis between South Africa and Germany. *Potchefstroom Electronic Law Journal, 20*, 1–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.17159/1727-3781/2017/v20i0a820</u>
- Tam, K. P. (2013). Concepts and measures related to connection to nature: Similarities and differences. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 34, 64–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2013.01.004</u>

- Terralingua. (2014). Terralingua biocultural diversity education initiative An overview of a new approach to education and curriculum development. https://terralingua.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/07/BCDEI-Overview.pdf
- Tershy, B. R., Shen, K. W., Newton, K. M., Holmes, N. D., & Croll, D. A. (2015). The Importance of Islands for the Protection of Biological and Linguistic Diversity. *BioScience*, 65(6), 592–597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biv031</u>
- Thomas, W. P., & Collier, V. P. (2002). A National Study of School Effectiveness for Language Minority Students' Long-Term Academic Achievement. Center for Research on Education, Diversity and Excellence, Santa Cruz CA. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/65j213pt
- Toppo, N., & Rahman, R. (2020). The Role of Language in Sustainable Development: Multilingualism and Language Literacy in India. *Problems of Sustainable Development*, 15(1), 89–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.35784/pe.2020.1.10</u>
- UDIR. (2020a). Læreplan i grunnleggende norsk for språklige minoriteter (NOR07-02) [Curriculum in basic Norwegian for linguistic minorities (NOR07-02)]. https://www.udir.no/lk20/nor07-02
- UDIR. (2020b). *Læreplan i morsmål for språklige minoriteter (NOR08-02)* [Mother tongue curriculum for linguistic minorities (NOR08-02)]. https://www.udir.no/lk20/nor08-02
- UN. (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda
- Unasho, A. (2013). Language as genes of culture and biodiversity conservation: The case of "Zaysite" language in southern region of Ethiopia. *International Journal of Modern Anthropology*, 1(6), 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/ijma.v1i6.1</u>
- UNESCO. (2017). Education for Sustainable Development Goals Learning Objectives. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000247444
- Upadhyay, R. K., & Hasnain, S. I. (2017). Linguistic diversity and biodiversity. *Lingua*, *195*, 110–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lingua.2017.06.002</u>
- Utdanningsdirektoratet. (2006). *Bærekraftig utvikling. Utdanning for bærekraftig utvikling* (2006–2010) [Sustainable development. Education for sustainable development (2006–2010)]. https://www.miljolare.no/info/Barekraftig_utvikl_rapp.pdf

- Uyar, Y. (2016). Does mother tongue education support development of environmental literacy in Turkey? An analysis of Turkish course books. *The International Journal of Environmental and Science Education*. <u>doi: 10.12973/ijese.2015.285a</u>
- Vikøy, A., & Haukås, S. (2021). Norwegian L1 teachers' beliefs about a multilingual approach in increasingly diverse classrooms. *International Journal of Multilingualism*, 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14790718.2021.1961779</u>
- Wagemaker, H. (2020). Study Design and Evolution, and the Imperatives of Reliability and Validity [E-book]. In H. Wagemaker (Ed.), *Reliability and Validity of International Large-Scale Assessment Understanding IEA's Comparative Studies of Student Achievement* (pp. 17–31).
- West, J. J., Amundsen, H., Schaller, N., & Aasen, M. (2022). Climate change: foundations for a transformative learning agenda. In H. Sæverot (Ed.), *Meeting the challenges of existential threats through educational innovation. A proposal for an expanded curriculum*. Routledge.
- Wilder, B. T., O'Meara, C., Monti, L., & Nabhan, G. P. (2016). The Importance of Indigenous
 Knowledge in Curbing the Loss of Language and Biodiversity. *BioScience*, 66(6), 499–
 509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biw026</u>
- Wilkinson, S. (1998). Focus group methodology: a review. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 1(3), 181–203.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.1998.10846874

Appendix 1 Letter of Informed Consent

Are you interested in taking part in the research project "Promoting linguistic diversity for fostering biological and cultural diversity in [XXXXXX]⁷"?

This is an inquiry about participation in a research project where the main purpose is to understand how the teachers in basic Norwegian and in mother tongue incorporate the concept of sustainable development in teaching newly arrived immigrants in [XXXXXX], Norway. In this letter, we will give you information about the purpose of the project and what your participation will involve.

Purpose of the project

Language is an important tool for communication that we use in our daily lives. Further, every language has a huge impact on biodiversity. When a language is lost, the ways to understand the local nature also get lost. On the contrary, if local and minority languages are sustained, it helps to achieve sustainable development which is the development that ensures that present day needs of the population are met without altering the ability of future generations to fulfil their own needs.

In this project a key aim is to look closer at language teaching and how it may preserve biological and cultural diversity.

We plan to carry out this study in [XXXXXX] at [YYYYYY]⁸. The [YYYYYY] has for a long time been imparting language education to minority pupils and gathers teachers for both mother tongue and Norwegian language.

Research Question-

How do teachers in basic Norwegian and in mother tongue incorporate the concept of sustainable development in teaching newly arrived immigrants in [XXXXXX], Norway? This research project is a master thesis VID Specialized University. Norway is the institution

This research project is a master thesis. VID Specialized University, Norway is the institution responsible for the project.

Why are you being asked to participate?

Since we are to identify how language teaching can promote sustainable development, we need to know the views and thoughts of the language teachers about teaching sustainable development to minority pupils. You have been contacted for this study as you are a language teacher at [YYYYYY].

[YYYYYY] has been contacted to ask permission for interviewing teachers.

What does participation involve for you?

You are asked to participate in a group discussion with some fellow colleagues and the researcher (master student). The discussion will take 45 to max. 60 minutes. The questions will be regarding importance of teaching about sustainable development to minority language pupils. You do not need to make any preparations for the discussion.

Your answers will be recorded electronically.

Participation is voluntary

Participation in the project is voluntary. If you chose to participate, you can withdraw your consent at any time without giving a reason. All information about you will then be made anonymous. There will be no negative consequences for you if you chose not to participate or later decide to withdraw.

⁷ The name of the city is redacted

⁸ The name of the language school is redacted

Your personal privacy – how we will store and use your personal data

We will only use your personal data for the purpose(s) specified in this information letter. We will process your personal data confidentially and in accordance with data protection legislation (the General Data Protection Regulation and Personal Data Act).

Only the student researcher Mallika Manral and the master's thesis supervisor Prof. **Frédérique Brossard Børhaug** at VID Specialized University, Norway will have access to data. Your name will be replaced with a code (fictive name). The languages you teach will be encoded as Norwegian = 1 and mother tongue = 2

The list of names and respective codes will be stored separately from the rest of the collected data.

The voice recorders would be encrypted/locked away.

No personal information will be given in the publication, all information from respondents will be anonymised.

What will happen to your personal data at the end of the research project?

The project is scheduled to end 30.06.2022.

All the personal data including the voice recordings will be permanently deleted from all the devices.

All data will be anonymised at the end of the project.

Your rights

So long as you can be identified in the collected data, you have the right to:

- access the personal data that is being processed about you
- request that your personal data is deleted
- request that incorrect personal data about you is corrected/rectified
- receive a copy of your personal data (data portability), and
- send a complaint to the Data Protection Officer or The Norwegian Data Protection Authority regarding the processing of your personal data

What gives us the right to process your personal data?

We will process your personal data based on your consent.

Based on an agreement with VID Specialized University, Norway, NSD – The Norwegian Centre for Research Data AS has assessed that the processing of personal data in this project is in accordance with data protection legislation.

Where can I find out more?

If you have questions about the project, or want to exercise your rights, contact:

- Prof. Frédérique Brossard Børhaug VID Specialized University, Norway Email: <u>frederique.borhaug@vid.no</u>
- Our Data Protection Officer: Nancy Yue Lui (<u>nancy.yue.liu@ diakonhjemmet.no</u>)
- NSD The Norwegian Centre for Research Data AS, by email: (<u>personverntjenes-ter@nsd.no</u>) or by telephone: +47 53 21 15 00.

Yours sincerely,

Prof. Frédérique Brossard Børhaug Project Leader (Supervisor) Mallika Manral Student -----

Consent form

I have received and understood information about the project "Promoting linguistic diversity for fostering biological and cultural diversity in [XXXXXX]" and have been given the opportunity to ask questions. I give consent:

- □ to participate in group discussion
- □ that excerpts of discussion in anonymised form will be published in Master's thesis and/or other publication.

I give consent for my personal data to be processed until the end date of the project, approx. 30.06.2022.

(Signed by participant, date)

Appendix 2 Interview Guide used in Focus Group Discussion

Group number with number of participants....

Sex: Male/ Female

Language(s) taught: L1 / L2

Grade level(s) taught:

Language teaching experience (years): 1 to 10, >10

First part

- 1. What is sustainable development for you?
- 2. Why do you think the theme of sustainable development gained such importance in the new curriculum, *Knowledge Promotion* 2020? (it has become a pluridisciplinary theme in all subjects)
- 3. Have you been teaching about sustainable development in your class? What did you focus on more concretely? Did you come over when pupils were studying this theme in other subjects?

Second part

- 4. What are the words related to nature that come up during your discussions/ interactions with your pupils on the topic of sustainable development?
- 5. Did you reflect that language teaching can promote sustainable development? Why should language learning contribute to it?
- 6. Did you reflect on the fact that sustainable development is not included in subject of the mother tongue? What do you think about it?

Third part

- 7. What comes to your mind when you hear the words "biocultural diversity"? Did you know that word?
- 8. Do you want to include this topic in your future teaching? If yes, why/if no, why?

Thank you for your participation!

Appendix 3

Approval from Norwegian Centre for Research Data

12/17/21, 1:56 PM

Notification form for processing personal data

NORSK SENTER FOR FORSKNINGSDATA

Assessment

Reference number

937423

Project title

Promoting linguistic diversity for fostering biological and cultural diversity in [XXXXXX]

Institution responsible for treatment

VID University College / Faculty of Theology, Diakonia and Management / Faculty of Theology, Diakonia and Management Stavanger

Project manager (scientific employee / supervisor or research fellow)

Frédérique Brossard Børhaug, frederique.borhaug@vid.no, tlf: +4791595620

Type of project

Student project, master's degree

Contact information, student

Mallika Manral, manralyashu@gmail.com, tlf: +4798647992

Project period

01.12.2021 - 30.06.2022

Rating (1)

15.11.2021 - Assessed

Our assessment is that the processing of personal data in this project will comply with data protection legislation, so long as it is carried out in accordance with what is documented in the Notification Form and attachments, dated 15.11.2021. Everything is in place for the processing to begin.

DUTY OF CONFIDENTIALITY

Please note that teachers are bound by a duty of confidentiality. It is therefore important that the interviews are conducted in such a way that confidential information about individual pupils is not gathered.

TYPE OF DATA AND DURATION

The project will process general categories of personal data until 30.06.2022.

LEGAL BASIS

The project will gain consent from data subjects to process their personal data. We find that consent will meet

https://meldeskjema.nsd.no/vurdering/61782469-a6bd-4544-827c-796bdd6b1301

12/17/21, 1:56 PM

Notification form for processing personal data

the necessary requirements under art. 4 (11) and 7, in that it will be a freely given, specific, informed and unambiguous statement or action, which will be documented and can be withdrawn.

The legal basis for processing general categories of personal data is therefore consent given by the data subject, cf. the General Data Protection Regulation art. 6.1 a).

PRINCIPLES RELATING TO PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA

NSD finds that the planned processing of personal data will be in accordance with the principles under the General Data Protection Regulation regarding:

 lawfulness, fairness and transparency (art. 5.1 a), in that data subjects will receive sufficient information about the processing and will give their consent

 purpose limitation (art. 5.1 b), in that personal data will be collected for specified, explicit and legitimate purposes, and will not be processed for new, incompatible purposes

 data minimisation (art. 5.1 c), in that only personal data which are adequate, relevant and necessary for the purpose of the project will be processed

 storage limitation (art. 5.1 e), in that personal data will not be stored for longer than is necessary to fulfil the project's purpose

THE RIGHTS OF DATA SUBJECTS

NSD finds that the information that will be given to data subjects about the processing of their personal data will meet the legal requirements for form and content, cf. art. 12.1 and art. 13.

Data subjects will have the following rights in this project: access (art. 15), rectification (art. 16), erasure (art. 17), restriction of processing (art. 18), notification (art. 19) and data portability (art. 20). These rights apply so long as the data subject can be identified in the collected data.

We remind you that if a data subject contacts you about their rights, the data controller has a duty to reply within a month.

FOLLOW YOUR INSTITUTION'S GUIDELINES

NSD presupposes that the project will meet the requirements of accuracy (art. 5.1 d), integrity and confidentiality (art. 5.1 f) and security (art. 32) when processing personal data.

To ensure that these requirements are met you must follow your institution's internal guidelines and/or consult with your institution (i.e. the institution responsible for the project).

NOTIFY CHANGES

If you intend to make changes to the processing of personal data in this project it may be necessary to notify NSD. This is done by updating the information registered in the Notification Form. On our website we explain which changes must be notified. Wait until you receive an answer from us before you carry out the changes.

FOLLOW-UP OF THE PROJECT

NSD will follow up the progress of the project at the planned end date in order to determine whether the processing of personal data has been concluded.

Good luck with the project! Contact person at NSD: Line Raknes Hjellvik